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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Let me introduce myself.  I’m Senator Deborah Ortiz.  I represent the Sacramento area, and I chair the Senate Health and Human Services Committee.


I’m joined today with my colleague, Senator Jack Scott, who represents Glendale as well as Burbank, I believe, as well as a representative from Senator Sheila Kuehl’s office:  Laura Plotkin.  I do understand that we are expecting at least a couple of other members of the State Legislature to join us today, and as they join us, we’ll allow them the opportunity for an introduction as well as some brief comments.


Now, before we start, I want to set some parameters for today’s hearing.  


Oh, I would be remiss—I want to thank the county board of supervisors here in Los Angeles for allowing us to use their chambers.  


Some of the parameters that I’d like to lay out are that. . . . what we will not be doing today.  Today, we’re not going to decide what the level of chromium VI should be to determine what is safe in drinking water.  Today’s not the day that we debate the merits of any particular litigation.  Today is the day we ask how a report which was supposed to be a tool to protect public health appears to have been the subject of undue influence by corporate interests with a financial stake in the outcomes.  And we will ask two state entities—the University of California and the California Environmental Protection Agency—why this was allowed to happen unchallenged.


Since I’ve been in elected office, few things have disturbed me as much as the allegations I received concerning the report issued in August of 2001 by the Chromate Toxicity Review Committee.  I did not write the law to set safe drinking water standards for chromium VI just to see it undercut by underhanded methods.  You can’t clean up tainted water with a tainted report.  I would say to industry:  You asked for balance, but you have to understand that conflicts of interest and hidden agendas throw any legitimate process out of balance.  I would say to UC and Cal/EPA:  Californians shouldn’t have to be afraid at the tap because someone was asleep at the switch.  And I want to make clear to everyone that with this hearing, the public interest is getting put back into the public process.


Let me now allow my colleague, Jack Scott, some opening comments and thank him for joining me.  It’s a very important issue in his district.  He’s been someone that has been a real advocate for his district, particularly on this issue, and I’m honored that he chose to join us today.


SENATOR JACK SCOTT:  Well, thank you very much, Senator Ortiz.  I want to express my appreciation for the leadership that you’ve given on this issue and the fact that this committee is meeting to set the record straight so we can protect the drinking water systems in our communities.


Obviously, protecting drinking water is critical to the health of all Californians.  I think when we all turn on the tap, we turn it on with the confidence that the water that we drink is safe and that it will not in any way endanger the health of Californians.  Yet, we just received news from the San Fernando Valley water master that chromium VI could force the closure of drinking wells in North Hollywood, Burbank, and Glendale.  This is a part of my district, and obviously, I’m very concerned about any possible dangers that we might have in the drinking water.


I also join Senator Ortiz in indicating that we want to make sure that any studies that are made are totally without bias.  We ought to have total confidence in studies that are made; and so, today, we want to determine whether the conclusions and recommendations made in the August 2001 report can still be considered appropriate and objective.  We want to provide straightforward information to the public about the dangers of chromium VI in our drinking water and discuss whether the current standards in place are appropriate or do we need more rigorous chromium VI drinking water standards.  So, we’re going to be looking at issues of this nature, but particularly, we’re focusing on the legitimacy of the report on which we’re to base our actions.


So, I’m very, very interested in seeing the testimony that we’re going to receive today.  It’s certainly open to the public.  And I join with Senator Ortiz in saying that as an elected official, that my job is to protect the public.  I’m not interested in the claims and counter-claims.  I’m just interested here in trying to represent the people in making sure that drinking water is safe.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Scott.


Let me allow Ms. Plotkin, representing Senator Kuehl, to say a few comments.


MS. LAURA PLOTKIN:  Well, first, I’d like to thank you very much, Senator Ortiz, for inviting me to represent Senator Sheila Kuehl here today.  


Our office has had some recent experience with issues of lack of public trust lately with findings of perchlorate in other areas in our district, and I think that we owe the public that trust that they’ve given us to make sure that we find out the truth.  So, I’m happy to participate here today in her behalf.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


Let me provide a really brief timeline to sort of give a sense to the public how this issue has evolved in the legislative and the administrative process.


In 1999, OEHHA, which is the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, issued a Public Health Goal for total chromium in drinking water at 2.5 parts per billion.  In March of 2001, OEHHA and the Department of Health Services announced plans to establish a Public Health Goal and safe water standards for chromium VI.  This was roughly after I introduced the legislation to direct the Department to develop those standards.


In March of 2001, Cal/EPA asked the UC to name a panel of experts to review the scientific literature regarding chromium VI.  In April of 2001, the University of California names the “blue-ribbon” panel members.  In July of 2001, the panel holds one public meeting.  In August of 2001, the panel released its report.  In November of 2001, presumably in response to the panel’s report, OEHHA withdraws its recommendation, the 1999 Public Health Goal for total chromium at—remember—at 2.5 parts per billion.  They withdraw that recommendation, and they cite the University of California’s report.  It is that report that will be reviewed today that calls into question the validity of that report’s findings.


In January 1 of 2002, my legislation—SB 351—became operative which directs the Department of Health Services to complete a safe drinking water standards determination by January of 2004.  


In spring of 2003, OEHHA is scheduled to release a Public Health Goal for chromium VI in drinking water.  Now, mind you, that Public Health Goal should be premised upon the panel’s findings as well as a peer review process.  The blue-ribbon panel is slated to provide a peer review, which is the next step, for a Public Health Goal for chrome VI at some unknown period of time.  So, we’re sort of in limbo between the report and the peer review process.  And our presentation today, hopefully, will provide a basis to determine whether or not we should go back and have a new panel actually review the body of evidence—in a fairer manner, in my mind.


And in January of 2004, the Department of Health Services again is supposed to release safe drinking water standards for chromium VI.  But whether or not they meet that goal and what they base that on is going to be the subject of our hearing today.


Let me now. . . . in keeping with the spirit of the hearing today, I would ask that all of the witnesses who come forward to speak disclose if they have any interests at all connected to this report and who, if anyone, is paying them to appear here today.  While we invited many of the figures central to this issue to appear today, I am disappointed that so few are actually here.  We will actively pursue their attendance at a follow-up hearing to be held at the Capitol in Sacramento.  


For the record, I would remind witnesses that while they are not sworn under oath, they are expected to be truthful and that this committee and other appropriate bodies have the right down the line to seek testimony under oath.


Let me now turn to the next part of the agenda which is an overview that will be provided by someone who is known to many of us and who is here today and will offer, hopefully, an overview of her role in this process.  Let me invite Ms. Erin Brockovich to come forward and welcome her here this afternoon.


I believe we’ve. . . . I don’t know if all these mikes are. . . . any of those mikes would be . . . 


MS.  ERIN BROCKOVICH:  Hi.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.


MS.  BROCKOVICH:  Thank you.  Thank you, all, for being here.  And I would like to extend a special thanks to Senator Ortiz for all of her efforts in seeing that people’s issues are heard and protected.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS.  BROCKOVICH:  For me, it doesn’t really matter if you’re a Republican or a Democrat.  It doesn’t really matter if you’re a defense attorney or a plaintiff attorney.  I am here today on behalf of the faceless citizens of the State of California:  the layperson that will suffer if our system or this process fails them.


The state created a blue-ribbon investigation panel.  It was created for a noble and lofty purpose, but it became corrupt, skewed, and biased for self-interest.  As you will see today, the process was flawed.  If we allow this panel—the chromium blue-ribbon panel—to control and manipulate science, they will be endangering tens of thousands of innocent people.  The general public’s health is now at stake.


In a moment I will share with you the California EPA’s mission statement, but before I do that, I would like to share with you my own.  It goes back to the Constitution; that government is founded upon its people.  People place their trust in the government, and the government is supposed to be the voice of the people.  And people still believe that the government is in place to protect them.  When that process is influenced or corrupt by industry or industry’s experts, industry’s lobbyist, or even their attorneys, it is no longer acting to protect the people but, rather, acting against the people in favor of industry.  My mission is to protect people, and people cannot protect themselves, their families, or their health if they do not know the truth.


The California EPA’s mission is to restore, protect, and enhance the environment and to ensure public health and safety.  It sounds like we’re on the same page.  But let me ask you a question:  What would you think if you knew that a senior scientific advisor of and for the California EPA was emailing industry and industry’s lobbyist at midnight, saying, I’m your humble civil servant here to serve you?  Who is he really serving?  At this point, is he protecting the interest of people or the interest of industry?


You will see today emails and documents between the California EPA, the University of Davis, to and from industry, industry’s paid experts, industry’s lobbyist, industry’s lawyers.  They are deciding how the blue-ribbon panel is going to work and what their strategic action plan will be and what result they will find.  In fact, their strategic action plan says that they will influence the selection of panel members and that the public cannot be swayed by a popular, yet fictionalized, movie—Erin Brockovich.  


This panel was created by the government to be neutral, unbiased, and independent.  Its mission should have been to protect the health and welfare of the citizens of the State of California rather than those who put financial interest above human health and life.


What follows in the presentation you’re going to see is not mere rhetoric, but it is the very evidence revealing the corruption and bias of this panel.  I am not going to trust, and neither should you, that industry, their experts, their lobbyist, or even their lawyers determine what is safe for me and my children and the rest of us to drink.


So, Gary Praglin will make his presentation; and again, thank you for being here today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Brockovich, for joining us.


We now invite Mr. Gary Praglin, who is an attorney with Engstron, Lipscomb and Lack.  Mr. Praglin was admitted to the California Bar in 1981.  He’s been practicing with Engstron, Lipscomb and Lack since 1981.  And please come forward, Mr. Praglin.  


Let me just remind you that our function here is today. . . . as we go through this presentation, I would just remind that our function as a body here is not to be an advocacy for particular clients but as a discussion of the questions that are raised during this report, and the public should understand that our goal is to gather the evidence and understand that we are to determine whether the public process is one that is fair.  But thank you for joining us.


Let me, as Mr. Praglin is setting up his presentation, let me encourage Senator Scott as well as the representative from Senator Kuehl’s office that we may want to go and sit over here so we can see the PowerPoint presentation.  Let me let the public know that this will take roughly forty-five minutes.  It is a very quick forty-five minutes.  And at that time upon the completion of the PowerPoint presentation, we’ll take about a fifteen-minute break in which others can grab lunch, and then we’ll regroup after that.  I think that time is about right.


Okay, with that, why don’t we go ahead and move over here.


Welcome.


MR. GARY PRAGLIN:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.

[PAUSE]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You should feel free to begin if you’ll . . .


MR. PRAGLIN:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


I’d like to take this opportunity to thank both Senator Ortiz and Senator Scott and Ms. Plotkin for hearing this presentation and inviting us here today.


Just by way of background, as Senator Ortiz said, my name is Gary Praglin.  I’m with the firm of Engstron, Lipscomb and Lack in Los Angeles.  We are one of three law firms that handled the Anderson vs. PG&E lawsuit stemming from chromium contamination in Hinkley, California in the mid-’90s that led to the movie Erin Brockovich.  That case was settled for a substantial amount of money paid by PG&E, and then we filed a follow-up lawsuit which is known as Aguayo vs. PG&E.  And that lawsuit has 900 people in it.  Stemming from contamination with chromium in both Hinkley and Kettleman, California, we’re suing PG&E.  The case has been pending for seven years now, and we had a trial date in 2001.


After the blue-ribbon panel report came out, PG&E came into court, and they told the judge that everything had changed.  They were waiving the blue-ribbon report—the blue-ribbon panel report—like a flag.  They said to the judge, The State of California has spoken.  It has said that chromium VI does not cause cancer by ingestion, and they wanted to amend their paperwork, their motions, their declarations, and move to dismiss our case.  And they got that permission to do that.  They amended all their paperwork, and we were given permission to take discovery—to take depositions, issue subpoenas—and we have obtained thousands of pages of documents in connection with the blue-ribbon panel process.  We’ve taken a couple dozen depositions of the people involved.  What you’re about to see is from the mouths of the people that were involved from their sworn testimony and from the documents that came right off of their computers in response to our subpoenas.


Just to address your concerns, Senator, I don’t have any interests here today other than I’m employed by a law firm who happens to represent these people in the lawsuit.  I’m not being paid by anyone to be here other than by my employer, Engstron, Lipscomb and Lack.  There’s no special bonus.  I had other things to do today, but I came here because you invited us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  This is the cover of the blue-ribbon panel report.  It’s dated August 31st, 2001.  You can see there are five blue-ribbon panel members noted there.  Two are missing.  One is Dennis Paustenbach, who was a blue-ribbon panel member, and the other is John Froines, who was a blue-ribbon panel member.  Dr. Paustenbach withdrew from the blue-ribbon panel because of his conflict of interest, and John Froines withdrew from the blue-ribbon panel for several reasons; one of which was Dr. Paustenbach and the manner in which the blue-ribbon panel was being handled.


This is the title of the report.  It says, “Chromate Toxicity Review Committee.”  I think that’s the official name.  It’s come to be known as the blue-ribbon panel.  We’re going to cover some background, and then we’re going to cover the issue of whether PG&E and industry controlled the blue-ribbon panel.


First the background.  


What is chromium?  Chromium VI is a known human carcinogen.  Cal/EPA, USEPA, and IARC, which is the International Agency for Research on Cancer, all believe that chromium VI is a known human carcinogen.  This is the Fact Sheet from the California Department of Health Services issued to the public, and they say, “Is chromium hazardous?”  Answer:  “Yes.  Chromium VI is known to cause cancer in humans when inhaled.”


So, what is chromium?  Chromium VI is linked to lung cancer, nasal cancer, nasal pharyngeal cancer, stomach cancer, blood cancer, and lymph cancer in humans.


As you said, Senator, the maximum contaminant limit, the MCL, for chromium is 50 parts per billion in California, and that’s derived from a Public Health Goal.  The Public Health Goal is used to set the maximum amount of chromium that can be in our drinking water, and it is 50 parts per billion for total chromium.  As you said, in 1999 OEHHA (the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment), which is an agency of the State of California, proposed lower goals.  It proposed 2.5 parts per billion total chrome and .2 parts per billion chrome VI.  So, you can see on the graph it’s a substantial reduction.  And here is the 1999 OEHHA proposed Public Health Goal:  2.5 parts per billion total chrome,  .2 parts per billion hexavalent chromium.  Hexavalent chromium and chrome VI are the same thing.  They’re used interchangeably.  


Industry opposed these proposed goals.  The reason they did that is it costs money to clean up the water to a level less than 50 parts per billion, and if these lower goals go into effect, as you’ll see later, it will affect industry’s position in litigation involving chromium.  So, industry very clearly opposed these proposed goals.


So, why a blue-ribbon panel?  Well, it was to evaluate the science on which the proposed lower goals were based.  And sure enough, here’s the letter from Cal/EPA saying, “Cal/EPA is requesting expert advice and recommendations on the toxicity of chromate.”  And in the news release from DHS:  “Cal/EPA establishes a blue-ribbon panel of expert scientists to address whether chrome VI can cause cancer when ingested.”  That’s the background we’re going to cover.


Now let’s look at whether PG&E and industry controlled the blue-ribbon panel.


We know that PG&E got two of its paid litigation experts on the blue-ribbon panel.  They were actually members of the blue-ribbon panel.  And we know that PG&E had three of its paid litigation experts presenting evidence to the blue-ribbon panel on July 25th, 2001, in Davis, California.  And we know that industry lobbied the panel, and we know that PG&E covered up certain facts in relation to the blue-ribbon panel and the science that it relied upon.  These are the topics that we’ll be covering, in this order.


First, the issue of PG&E’s two paid experts on the panel.  They are Dennis Paustenbach and Marc Schenker.  And when I say “two paid experts,” these are men who were employed by PG&E to serve as litigation consultants in our litigation against PG&E.  They were paid by PG&E to advocate PG&E’s position that chrome VI does not cause cancer when ingested.


Now, we know that the blue-ribbon panel must avoid conflicts of interest, and we know that there was no conflict-of-interest check; and we’ll cover that in a moment.  And as a result of the fact that there were conflicts of interest, John Froines resigned, as I said, for that, among other reasons, and we know that that left two PG&E paid experts on the blue-ribbon panel.


So, let’s look at this issue about needing to avoid conflict of interest.  This is an email that we obtained by way of subpoena from Jerold Last, the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel.  And he’s writing here to Scott McDonald, who’s in the University of California, Office of President.  And he says that “The chrome VI task order says, ‘committee members who serve as peer reviewers should not have any economic conflict of interest.’”  It’s right there in the empowering document for the blue-ribbon panel.  So, the panel clearly knew that they must avoid conflict of interest.  This Jerold Last’s email.  He’s the chairman of the panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what date was that, Mr. Praglin?


MR. PRAGLIN:  That was July 30th, 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  They also knew because outside people—this one, Marguerite Young at Clean Water Action, which is a public interest group—wrote letters to Dr. Last, objecting to the conflict of interest.  This letter was July of 2001, shortly before the public hearing.  And Ms. Young writes here that she’s concerned regarding the membership of the panel.  She warned of potential conflict of interests.  And here she says, “Scientists and experts who advise the USEPA on a broad range of regulations often have links to affected industries as well as other conflicts of interest that can undermine the legitimacy of the regulatory process and create a policy for reviewing the potential conflicts of interest of panel appointees,” and she says that she’s “particularly concerned about the potential conflicts of interest around the chrome VI issue.”


And we asked Dr. Last about this letter, and yes, he received it, and it wasn’t the only letter that he received.  So, they knew to avoid conflicts.  Did they do a conflict-of-interest check?  


Here’s another email.  This one is from George Alexeeff, who’s the deputy director of OEHHA (the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment) to John Froines, who was a panel member at the time.  Dr. Froines had been on the panel and off the panel, and in this email Dr. Alexeeff writes to him and says, “I hope this means you will remain on the committee.  It’s really important to us.  Not the specific result but that the process be done in a judicious and scientific manner.  In speaking with Joan on the issue”—Joan is Joan Denton, the director of OEHHA—“she said that a conflict-of-interest statement will be part of the committee’s package.”  So clearly, conflict of interest was supposed to be addressed, disclosed, and part of the committee’s package.  And it was not.  We’ve asked in deposition after deposition, “Where is the conflict-of-interest statement?”  There never was one.  Sworn testimony says there was never a conflict-of-interest statement.


So, we know there was no conflict check.  Let’s look at John Froines’ resignation.  I know Dr. Froines is here today, and I have a little bit of his resume here.  I don’t mean to embarrass him with praise, but he’s well respected in the scientific community.  He has a Ph.D. from Yale.  He’s worked with OSHA.  He was a deputy director at NIOSH.  He’s a renowned expert in toxicology.  He runs the environmental program at UCLA.  In the sworn testimony of Jerold Last, Dr. Froines was his first pick for the blue-ribbon panel.  So, Dr. Froines is clearly somebody who has been looked to for guidance on these issues before.  He was the first pick for the blue-ribbon panel, and he was asked about conflict of interest.


We took Dr. Froines’ deposition.  This was in October of 2002.  He was under oath.  This is an excerpt from his deposition transcript, and I asked him this question:  “Were you ever told that any of the other panel members were screened for conflict of interest?”  His answer under oath:  “No.  I raised the issue of conflict of interest on a number of occasions, and it pretty much seemed to me I was talking to myself.”  And we asked him this in the deposition which, by the way, was videotaped.  All of these depositions were videotaped, and here’s his sworn testimony:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  Did you complain to Dr. Last about the apparent lack of objectivity of the panel members?


Dr. Froines:  I think I did in at least one email.


Mr. Praglin:  Did Dr. Last ever call you or email you and address your concerns about conflict of interest?


Dr. Froines:  No.

MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s his sworn testimony.  And we have this email from John Froines to Jerold Last.  This is the email that Dr. Froines sent at the time when he was withdrawing from the blue-ribbon panel on July 11th, 2001.  And he sent this to the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel, saying, “I’m withdrawing from the committee.  I will not participate further on the committee.”  And he says, “I’m worried about the apparent lack of input from other members of the committee and potential issues of objectivity.”  And what he’s talking about here—and we’ll see this later—is he’s talking about Dennis Paustenbach, who was industry’s paid consultant, who had overrun the panel, who had drafted the blue-ribbon panel report, and no longer allowed it to be an objective process.  So, John Froines resigns from the blue-ribbon panel on July 11th, 2001, and that left two paid PG&E experts on the panel.


First, we’ll look at Dennis Paustenbach and then Marc Schenker.  


This is an excerpt from Dr. Paustenbach’s sworn testimony.  We took his deposition on three occasions.  This is from the August 29th session last year, and this is an excerpt from his testimony about his history of earning money from industry in connection with chromium problems, and he says that Maxus Energy paid at least $7 million to deal with the chromium problems.  He says, “Well over $7 million.”  This is his sworn testimony.  And if we look at the history of Dr. Paustenbach’s work on chromium VI, you can see that in the New Jersey contamination, which was for Maxus Energy, his firm was paid approximately  $7.1 million for their work in the ’80s and ’90s.  They were paid in excess of $75,000 by Merck, which had inherited a contaminated chromium site in, I believe, Modesto, California, and they were paid $1.5 million or so by PG&E for their work in connection with the Anderson litigation that led to the Erin Brockovich movie, and that was in the mid-’90s.  So, you can see that Dr. Paustenbach has a twenty-year history of working for industry in connection with chromium problems that they have.


Now, this is Alise Cappel.  I’ve seen her here today.  I know she’ll be testifying.  She’s the director of Toxics Research at the Center for Environmental Health in Oakland.  She testified at the blue-ribbon panel hearing in July of 2001.  She was one of the very few members of the public who actually even attended that public hearing, and she’s been following Dr. Paustenbach and his problems with conflict of interest for quite some time now.  This is an excerpt from her videotaped deposition in November of 2002.  And we asked her about Dr. Paustenbach and his reputation:

[VIDEO]


Ms. Cappel:  He’s rather infamous in environmental circles as always taking the position. . . . industry’s position.  He has a reputation as an “industry whore” is the term.


Now, obviously, Alise Cappel was under oath at the time.  She does not use that description lightly.  That’s her sworn testimony about Dr. Paustenbach’s reputation as a consultant for industry.


And here’s Dr. Paustenbach.  This is off his website.  He’s with Exponent, which is a worldwide consulting firm, consulting mostly to Fortune 500 companies.  He’s a corporate vice president.  He formerly worked for McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk before they went out of business.  Now he’s working with Exponent.  Who are his clients?  PG&E—Pacific Gas & Electric Company—among a long list.  We took this off the Internet.  This is his resume.  


This is a document obtained from the Anderson case—this is the case from the mid-’90s—which is PG&E’s “Expert Witness List” that they filed with the court, filed under oath, by PG&E’s lawyers at the time.  This happens to be filed by a lawyer by the name of Steven Hoch, where he swears under oath who PG&E’s paid experts are going to be, and he lists Dennis Paustenbach, McLaren/Hart/ ChemRisk, Expert Witness Number 27.  Dr. Paustenbach was paid $338 an hour by PG&E for his work in that case.  We asked Dr. Paustenbach in his deposition, while he was under oath, about the issue of conflict of interest, and he gave this testimony:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  The money that you earned from PG&E and Merck you didn’t necessarily think was a conflict in your serving as a member on the blue-ribbon panel?


Dr. Paustenbach:  Of course not.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you increase the volume, then maybe repeat that?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Yes.  Let me get my tech guy.  I don’t think you want me to try it.

[PAUSE]


We’ll try the next clip.  This is a clip from Dr. Paustenbach’s deposition on the same subject in relation to his conversations with William Vance, who’s the Cal/EPA science advisor.  Mr. Vance was actually the person who invited Dr. Paustenbach onto the panel, and we asked him about the conflict-of-interest discussion, if any:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  But when Mr. Vance called you and you discussed the issue of a potential conflict of interest because of your work on chromium for PG&E and Merck, didn’t it come up how much money you had earned for that chromium work?


Dr. Paustenbach:  Frankly, in a world of conflict of interest in the scientific community, the amount of money is irrelevant.

MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, I think you’ll hear from others today that that’s not a widely accepted view.


We asked Dr. Paustenbach again about the issue of conflict of interest in the same deposition:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  And in your opinion, no amount of money could create a conflict of interest for you from having served as an expert on the blue-ribbon panel?


Dr. Paustenbach:  I tend to share Dr. Last’s views on this matter:  money, ethics, proper behavior seemed to be separated.  We don’t link. . . . we generally don’t link them.

MR. PRAGLIN:  And one more clip on that issue:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  Didn’t you think that an important point about your background as a potential blue-ribbon panel member would be the fact that you and your firm had billed millions of dollars in connection with chromium work in the past?


Dr. Paustenbach:  Dr. Last would think it laughable if I’d have brought that to his attention.

MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, that’s important testimony because later you’ll see a clip from Dr. Last’s deposition where he expresses a different point of view.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s relevant for the public to understand that Jerold Last is the University of California professor that also chaired the panel.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And this is an email from Jerold Last, the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel, July 2nd, 2001, sent to the entire blue-ribbon panel when it was assembled, and he’s talking about how he used Dr. Paustenbach’s work that was paid for by industry, and he says, “I copied the third chapter pretty much verbatim from a review Dennis and his colleagues have in press, so we will want to do some revisions to eliminate the verbatim aspect.”  Dennis is Dennis Paustenbach, and the review that he’s talking about is a scientific article that Dr. Paustenbach and his colleagues—Dr. Proctor, Dr. Finley, and others—were paid to write by Merck in connection with the issue of whether chromium VI causes cancer when it’s ingested, and they concluded—same as they concluded for PG&E back in the ’90s—that chromium VI doesn’t cause cancer when ingested; and that was paid for by Merck.  So, what they did was they gave this work that industry funded, with the conclusion that chromium VI doesn’t cause cancer by ingestion, to the blue-ribbon panel.  And Dr. Last is saying right here—it looks to me like he’s saying—we have to cover up the fact that we’re using his work to eliminate the verbatim aspect.


Here’s another email from John Froines where he’s commenting upon the process of writing the blue-ribbon panel report.  This is that same email about his withdrawal, and here he says, “I’m aware of Dennis Paustenbach’s work”—and this is on the blue-ribbon panel report—“since he appears to be principal author of three chapters”—he means three chapters of the blue-ribbon panel report—“with an additional chapter from Dr. Flegal.  It was my impression that Marc Schenker was working on the epidemiology section, but I received draft sections of the epi chapter written by Dennis Paustenbach last week.”  So, what he’s doing is he’s complaining about the fact that Dr. Paustenbach is writing the blue-ribbon panel report, and there doesn’t appear to be any other input.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Praglin, will you go back to the first email for a second?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.  This one here?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s see—no.  The one prior to that.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In which we’re having. . . . we’ve got an email from Mr. Last that directs the need to not have this third chapter look like it was a verbatim review.  So, understanding that it gave the. . . . it implied that it creates the appearance of a conflict of interest, and therefore, there’s a need to remedy that—by Mr. Last’s email which concludes that there is no health risk to chromium VI in the water.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s the way I read it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I’m a bit alarmed because I think that that raises a particular issue that if we’re not only seeing that which should be an impartial chair acknowledge a need to essentially revise a verbatim report by industry that concludes that there’s no health risk, whether that act in and of itself raise some potential liability questions or failure to act to safeguard the public in a fair process, and I’m. . . . this is alarming, particularly in light of the second email that further raises issues that taint this study.  I think we’re going to try to find out whether that puts the State of California in some sort of position of potential liability that essentially says this is the first step in determining that this is not carcinogenic and doing so by simply plagiarize. . . . or rewriting verbatim, cut and paste, an industry report that has been used to protect the industry.  So, I’m going to see if we can get Leg Counsel to pursue that as a potential risk for the State of California—potential civil liability.


Please continue.  I’m sorry to interrupt.


MR. PRAGLIN:  No problem.


Senator, plagiarism is a very serious issue, and we asked Dr. Last about that.  It’s my impression from the testimony of these witnesses that the custom and practice in science is when you use somebody else’s work, you give a citation, you give attribution.  On Dr. Paustenbach’s paper, you’ll see there are six authors listed.  The blue-ribbon panel report does not give a citation to Dr. Paustenbach’s work where they copy his work.  And so, this statement by Dr. Last that they attempt to eliminate the verbatim aspect to me looks like they’re trying to cover their tracks where they’re copying the work of industry. . . . industry’s paid consultants.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And, in fact, Paustenbach’s name does not even appear on the cover of the final report, showing that he had served on the panel.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, this email from John Froines we covered.  I’ll just fast-forward through this.


This is the next email from Jerold Last—again, he’s the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel—to Marc Schenker, who was the other blue-ribbon panel member that was a PG&E paid consultant.  And I might add that he was a consultant with PG&E in our current case, the Aguayo case, at the time he made his way somehow onto the blue-ribbon panel.  And in this email, Dr. Last is talking about how he used Dr. Paustenbach’s work, and he says right here, “We also don’t want to look like we’re merely rubberstamping Dennis’s conclusions.”  So clearly, they’re copying the work of Dr. Paustenbach, and Dr. Last is acknowledging the issue here that they don’t want to look like they’re copying the work.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the chair of the independent committee, or panel, acknowledges once again a need to not appear to rubberstamp, which implies it’s an actual rubberstamping but we have to make sure we don’t look like we’re doing that.  But this is the one that. . . . and I know there’s a representative from the University of California that will address the committee later, but this is, to me, the most disturbing aspect of an, you know, acknowledged failure to raise conflict-of-interest questions even though consistently asked to do so and then, in fact, appearing to try to cover up an industry conclusion.


Please continue.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


Let’s look at Marc Schenker now.  He’s the second paid consultant of PG&E who made his way onto the blue-ribbon panel.  Again, this is the expert witness designation list filed by PG&E’s current lawyers.  This is filed in our current Aguayo lawsuit filed under oath.  Who does PG&E list?  Marc Schenker, Expert Witness Number 47.  And PG&E paid Dr. Schenker $600 per hour for his work for them.  And we asked Dr. Schenker in his sworn deposition in September of 2002 about this issue, and this is an actual excerpt from his testimony.  He says, “I believe the important issue is making clear any consulting agreements that I have.  In fact, I indicated to Dr. Last that my work on the panel would be, in my opinion, the same as my work for PG&E.”  And then he testified, “The question really is one of appearances, and I realize that in that situation, it might appear to people as being inappropriate or a conflict.”


Now, the issue with Dr. Schenker was whether at the time he was on the blue-ribbon panel he still had possession of the litigation file from PG&E which was confidential.  We asked to see it.  We were denied.  PG&E instructed him not to answer any questions about what they showed him while he was working for them, and so, we asked Dr. Schenker this question about whether he still had the Aguayo file—that would be the privileged information from PG&E—at the time that he was first contacted about the blue-ribbon panel by Dr. Last.  And under oath, Dr. Schenker said, “No.”  He swore he didn’t still have the file.  So, we asked him when he was first contacted about the blue-ribbon panel.  Here’s his testimony, April 10th, 2001.  You look at that on a calendar, and here is the FedEx receipt that we obtained from Dr. Schenker where he returned his file to PG&E’s lawyers—Latham and Watkins in San Diego—on May 24th, 2001.  So, for forty-four days, during the time of the blue-ribbon panel, Dr. Schenker was still in possession of the confidential Aguayo file from PG&E’s lawyers.  That’s PG&E’s second paid consultant who was on the blue-ribbon panel.


I should point out, incidentally, that Dr. Schenker did not come forward to the public with the fact that he was a PG&E paid consultant until confronted at the very end of the public hearing on July 25th, 2001, confronted by my partner who went up there that morning to raise the issue of conflict of interest, and at that time, for the very first time, did Dr. Schenker disclose to the public that he was a current PG&E paid consultant.


Now, this is the other letter that Dr. Last, the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel, received from Joe Lyou, the director of Programs at the Ed Fund in Los Angeles.  You can see here’s Dr. Lyou’s letterhead.  He sent this letter in July of 2001, shortly before the blue-ribbon panel hearing.  This was received by Dr. Last.  We cross-examined him about that in his deposition.  And Dr. Lyou says to Jerold Last, confirming a conversation that they had just had, “In our telephone conversation, we discussed my concerns about the apparent conflict of interest of panel member Dennis Paustenbach.  You told me that you thought, going by the strict legal definition, two to three members of the six-member panel have conflicts of interest.”  And then Dr. Lyou cites him to the California Government Code Section 81000 and following that requires the panel to assure that any panel member with conflicts of interest do not participate in the proceedings of the panel.  And there’ll be some testimony later that you’ll see about this letter that Dr. Lyou sent.


Well, we asked Dr. Last. . . . again, this is Jerold Last.  He’s the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel.  He’s at the University of California at Davis.  We asked him about Dr. Lyou’s letter, which was Exhibit 23 in the Last deposition, and we asked him about this issue of allegations of Dennis Paustenbach’s conflict of interest.  Here’s Dr. Last’s sworn testimony:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  I’m asking you a different question though.  Assuming that what Dr. Lyou says in Exhibit 23 is correct about Dr. Paustenbach’s ties to several clients with chromium VI contamination problems, would you agree that that set of facts would create a conflict of interest for Dr. Paustenbach on the blue-ribbon panel?


Dr. Last:  I think I need to give that question a lot more thought to give you an absolute answer.  I would certainly say it certainly could create a conflict of interest, and it would be a source of concern to me if that set of facts was correct.

MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, that’s important because recall Dr. Paustenbach’s testimony about conflict of interest where he swore that Dr. Last would think it laughable if I’d have brought that to his attention.  So clearly, Dr. Last does not share that view.


So, those are PG&E’s two paid experts on the panel.


Again, these are the topics that we’ll cover.  Next, we’re going to cover PG&E’s three paid litigation consultants who presented to the blue-ribbon panel.  The three presenters were Deborah Proctor, Sverre Langard, and Phillip Cole.


First, Deborah Proctor.  This is Deborah Proctor.  She was deposed.  This is an excerpt from her videotape deposition.  Here’s from her website.  Who’s she with?  She’s with Exponent.  That’s Dr. Paustenbach’s company, and she’s a senior managing scientist at Exponent.  Who are her clients?  Pacific Gas & Electric, among other people.


This is the Weight of the Evidence article that Dr. Paustenbach and Dr. Proctor were paid by Merck to write.  It was published on July 30th, 2001, and it was in press in the year 2001, during the same time that the blue-ribbon panel was doing its work.  This is the actual scientific article.  You can see there are six authors.  And that’s the custom is you list all of the authors that participate in a scientific article.  Here there are six.  Dr. Proctor happens to be first, but you see Dr. Paustenbach is on that as well.


This is the article that Dennis Paustenbach urged his associate, Deborah Proctor, to give to the blue-ribbon panel so that they could use it in their work, and we have emails to that effect.  And again, this is an article that was paid for by Merck, which had chromium problems.  It says Merck sponsored this research.  Sponsoring is a nice name for paying for the research.  And when you compare the actual blue-ribbon panel report that came out for the State of California on  August 31st, 2001, which is on the right, and the article that industry paid Dr. Paustenbach and Dr. Proctor to write about the issue of whether chrome VI causes cancer by ingestion, and when you look at specific passages of the two documents—written by different people—you see that the blue-ribbon panel copied line for line, word for word, the work that industry paid Dr. Paustenbach to write with the conclusion that chrome VI doesn’t cause cancer by ingestion.  And sure enough, that’s the same conclusion that the blue-ribbon panel came to.  And it’s not just this page here.  You look at another page—this is about the Greater Tokyo study, which is a population exposed to chromium—and when you compare the State of California’s blue-ribbon panel report along with industry’s paid-for article, you can see it’s verbatim.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask for clarification?  


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is this, in fact, the same report that was cut and pasted and suggested was plagiarized in the emails from Chairperson Last to actually alter to avoid the appearance of adopting?


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think there was a third document.  In other words, there was the article that was given to the panel.  There was the blue-ribbon panel report.  But Dr. Paustenbach drafted a chapter for the blue-ribbon panel report which was given to the panel and then became the chapter in the panel report.  And the point is, is that the blue-ribbon panel copied from the article, but there was an interim draft document.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And remember, this is Jerold Last, the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel, sending his email saying, “I copied the third chapter pretty much verbatim from a review Dennis and his colleagues have in press, so we’ll want to do some revisions to eliminate the verbatim aspect.”  And you can see the copying examples that we just gave you.  I’m not going to inundate you with examples, but when you compare the two documents side by side—and I have them here today; I have extra copies of them if anyone wants—you can see that the work is copied.  And it’s virtually impossible for independent scientists to arrive at these same words independently.  They had to have copied industry’s work.


Now, this is an excerpt from a letter that Deborah Proctor—again, she’s with Exponent, Dr. Paustenbach’s company—that she sent to come of her clients.  And you can see the red bars there.  Those are redacting:  they’re covering out the names of her clients because those clients went into court and they wanted to remain anonymous.  They didn’t want to be identified.  But we have the letter here, and Dr. Proctor says, “We’ve shared the general approach outlined in the attached proposal with the blue-ribbon panel.”  This proposal is a proposal that industry paid her to write about how chromium doesn’t hurt people when they drink it.  And she says, “These members have expressed great interest in our study and have indicated that this information is important to their deliberations and recommendations to OEHHA.  Therefore, the results of the proposed chrome VI study will potentially provide real benefits to the client”—you can substitute Lockheed in there—“and other industries facing regulatory actions on chrome VI in drinking water in California.”  


And so, what she’s saying is that this work that industry is paying Exponent to do is of great interest to the blue-ribbon panel, and that same work that industry is paying them to do will potentially provide real benefits to the industries facing regulatory actions on chrome VI.  So, the same work that they rely upon to try and keep the limits from getting softer on chrome VI in regulatory actions is what they’re giving to the blue-ribbon panel here.  That’s Deborah Proctor.


Let’s look at Sverre Langard.  This is Dr. Langard.  This is an excerpt from the transcript of the public hearing on July 25th, 2001.  This is the only hearing that the blue-ribbon panel ever had.  Dr. Langard traveled to the hearing.  He says, “I’m honored to present to the panel,” and we should note that Dr. Langard is not a California resident.  Dr. Langard resides in Oslo, Norway, and he flew from Oslo, Norway to California to attend this public hearing; a hearing that the public barely attended.  And who is Dr. Langard?  This is PG&E’s “Expert Witness List” from our current Aguayo lawsuit filed under oath by PG&E’s lawyers—Sverre Langard, Expert Witness Number 38, Oslo, Norway.  PG&E pays him $400 an hour to testify regarding toxicology, epidemiology, chromium, and medical causation issues, and he was flown out from Oslo, Norway to testify before the blue-ribbon panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m glad PG&E was able to fly Mr. Langard out from Norway.  We can’t seem to get PG&E here today, but.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And Senator, I should point out that I’m not sure that PG&E flew him out.  The documents that you’re about to see may indicate that other interests with the same concern as PG&E actually flew Dr. Langard out.  It’s a question that we’re still trying to definitively answer, but maybe these documents will address it.


This is an email from a man named Brett Oberst to Sverre Langard.  You’ll see the language is a little different at the top because this is actually printed out off of a Norwegian computer.  But Mr. Oberst says to Dr. Langard, “Deb Proctor, a scientist at Exponent whom you may know and who has been helping us stay informed regarding the panel meeting, is sending you by fax the missing pages from the analysis by Dr. Froines.”  Dr. Froines who’s here today.  And Mr. Oberst writes to Dr. Langard that “Dr. Last has learned that you’re going to be coming.  He’s very pleased, and he plans to allow you at least ten to fifteen minutes.”  This is extra time if he wants to present to the panel.  And so, Mr. Oberst sends this to Dr. Langard just four days before the public hearing.


Well, who’s Brett Oberst?  He’s a lawyer at Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher here in Los Angeles.  Gibson, Dunn represents Lockheed in connection with their litigation involving chromium.


And here’s an email from Mr. Oberst’s partner, Patrick Dennis, at Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, to Dr. Langard, talking about this public hearing.


I should point out, this was all produced to us by Dr. Langard in response to our subpoena.


Here’s Mr. Dennis.  He’s a partner at Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, and here’s the letter that he sends to Dr. Langard, saying, “Dear Sverre, I sent you an email with your draft paper that has Brett and my minor comments incorporated.  The one thing we suggest taking out was the discussion at the very end about the potential drinking water standard for chrome VI.”  That was our only substantive suggestion?  “I believe a short cover letter would be appropriate, and I offer the following.”  And he drafts for Dr. Langard to send this letter to Dr. Last along with Dr. Langard’s report which, by the way, concludes that chromium VI doesn’t cause cancer by ingestion.  And this is drafted by an industry lawyer.  This is his email.  And here’s the cover letter that he offers for Dr. Langard to send to Dr. Last, the blue-ribbon panel chair, and when you compare the letter that Dr. Langard actually sent—this is the one drafted by Dr. Langard now—and you compare the lawyer’s letter with the expert’s letter, you see the conclusion is identical:  “In sum, the epidemiological literature does not support an association between chrome VI exposure by ingestion,” and then they add, “or inhalation for that matter”—and there are people that don’t even agree with that—“and GI cancer.  I look forward to addressing the panel on July 25th.”  And you can see that Dr. Langard adopted the cover letter 100 percent copied what Mr. Dennis wrote for him to send.  


And here’s the bill from Sverre Langard to Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher in Los Angeles:  $11,500.  You can see he’s billed twenty-three hours at $350 an hour, and he bills thirty hours at a hundred dollars an hour to fly on an airplane from Norway to California.  This bill was paid, as you’ll hear in a little while, by a different company; although, the bill was sent—not a company but a so-called alliance—but the bill was sent to industry’s lawyers, Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me stop for a moment because what I. . . . I’m trying to get so that some of my members who’ve not read as much as I’ve been able to read over the last couple of weeks is we have an attorney that represents PG&E which is representing them in the litigation, which in and of itself is not presumptively inappropriate, but directing the substance of a scientific review testimony by Mr. Langard before the independent panel.  


One, procedurally I’m concerned because it appears that Jerold Last is having communications with a particular witness prior to. . . . which we will hear from some of the public that weren’t able to even find the meeting or even get prior notice of the one-day meeting.  So, that has occurred, which raises an issue with my staff that I want us to look at, whether we want to—and we’re looking at reforms of conflict of interest—whether we want to preclude ex parte communications during the deliberative process.  Although, I think we will hear from others that it’s not truly a deliberative process.


Two, industry is perfectly entitled to give testimony during these public hearings as long as, I think, we have an obligation to disclose if, in fact, they’re being paid for by industry.  But it appears here that not only did it not directly come from PG&E but, rather, it came from a so-called advocacy water. . . . clean water advocacy group that was then paid through the attorneys indirectly for PG&E.


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think you’re right, but I may have misspoken, and I want to be clear about one point:  that this bill that was sent by Dr. Langard was sent to Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, who is not PG&E’s lawyers so far as we know.  We know Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher to be Lockheed Martin’s attorneys in chromium litigation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Then I stand corrected.  A firm that is representing another chromium VI.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And as you’ll see later in this, I think is what you are alluding to, is there’s a so-called alliance which we believe is a front for industry, and this alliance is actually who ended up paying this bill.  But we’ll cover that in a little bit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, in terms of direction to my staff, not only as we look at the conflict-of-interest standards being truly conflict-of-interest disclosures, let’s also look at the potential for prohibiting ex parte communications that appear to have occurred between Mr. Last and others.


So, please continue.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


So, that’s Sverre Langard, the second PG&E consultant.  And I should just make this clear that Dr. Langard is a PG&E paid consultant.  It just so happens that in this instance it appears as though he was coordinated and his cover letter to Dr. Last was drafted by the lawyer for a different industrial concern, that being Lockheed Martin.


Let’s look at Phillip Cole.  Phillip Cole is one of PG&E’s current experts in our Aguayo lawsuit.  Here he is right here.  This is an excerpt from his testimony before the blue-ribbon panel on July 25th, 2001.  And he says right here, “I’d like to point out that the work that I’ve done was supported by PG&E.”


Now, we asked Dr. Cole. . . . here’s Dr. Cole’s designation from PG&E’s “Expert Witness List.”  You can see that he’s paid $450 an hour by PG&E to testify regarding epidemiology and medical causation.  And we asked Dr. Cole about his billings to PG&E.  And I asked him this question in his deposition while he was under oath:


Question:  “Did you send an invoice to PG&E for $600 to go watch the Erin Brockovich movie?”  


Answer:  “I did.  They didn’t pay it though.”  


Question:  “What would give you the idea that you could bill $600 to watch a movie?”  


Answer:  “They asked me to watch it.”  To watch it.  And then this testimony:

[VIDEO]


Dr. Cole:  Oh, I just thought that given that it was a movie, I should charge less than I usually do.


Mr. Praglin:  Well, how’d you arrive at $300 an hour to watch a movie?


Dr. Cole:  Just made it up.

MR. PRAGLIN:  So, that’s who came from Birmingham, Alabama to Davis, California to testify about how much chromium should be in our drinking water.


So, those are the presenters that PG&E paid, or industry paid, to come to present to the blue-ribbon panel.


Let’s look at how industry lobbied the blue-ribbon panel.  You might ask yourself:  How did PG&E get two paid consultants on the panel and three paid experts as presenters?  Eric Newman.  That’s how.  Eric Newman is a lobbyist at Kahl/Pownall in Sacramento.  This is a document that we got from the California Secretary of State.  It’s called a Form 635.  It’s filed under oath by PG&E, listing who their lobbyists are, and they list Eric Newman and his company, Kahl/Pownall, to lobby—and you see it’s right here in the fine print, buried at the back of this form that one of my great staff, who I should acknowledge—I       didn’t . . . . obviously, I didn’t do all this myself—one of my staff found this document, and in the fine print you can see that PG&E is paying Mr. Newman for environmental regulatory issues, chromium-related regulatory matters.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait.  Let me. . . . will you go back to that, please?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ve highlighted the “environmental regulatory issues,” but prior to that we see. . . . are you suggesting that the Governor’s Office contacts are also part of this OEHHA environmental regulatory issue?  It’s part of the same payment?


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s what PG&E is swearing to in this document, that they paid. . . . I believe in this case it was $15,000 for this period of time, and the work here was to lobby all of these entities here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Governor’s Office.


MR. PRAGLIN:  OEHHA.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Cal/EPA, Department of Health Services, on the environmental regulatory issues related to chrome VI.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.  And this is not the only lobbyist form that we obtained.  There might be a dozen of them indicating that lobbyists were paid for environmental issues by PG&E and by others.


Again, this is on another page indicating chromium-related regulatory matters.  


This is Eric Newman.  We took his deposition in December of 2002.  He was under oath.  This is an excerpt from his deposition:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  Has Kahl/Pownall billed PG&E or its counsel about $90,000 for work done since October 2001?

MR. PRAGLIN:  This is PG&E’s lawyer.


PG&E lawyer:  ___________ objection to all of these questions as beyond the scope of discovery permitted by Judge Poole.


Mr. Newman:  I believe that seventy-five hundred times twelve is ninety-thousand.

MR. PRAGLIN:  So, what he’s saying is that PG&E paid his firm $90,000 for the work done on chromium since October 2001, and this question clarifies it:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  Was this $90,000 billed by Kahl/Pownall to PG&E for work involving chromium?  


MR. PRAGLIN:  Again, this PG&E’s lawyer objected.


PG&E lawyer:  Vague, ambiguous, overbroad, beyond the scope of discovery permitted by Judge Poole.


Mr. Newman:  _____ related to chromium?


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s the lobbyist that was paid by industry to work on chromium issues during the time of the blue-ribbon panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, the relevance is that it implies that there was contact between the lobbyist—which is not an inappropriate. . . . I mean, that’s what lobbyists do in terms of affecting outcomes.  However, the question is whether it was fully disclosed in the context of the panel’s deliberative process and/or inappropriate contact with the department at the time they were forming the list of who should be a part of the panel.


That’s. . . . I mean, this is how I’m trying to determine whether we have a problem here on this piece of it.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Well, I think that’s exactly right, Senator.  And the other point about the disclosure issue is that Mr. Newman worked for the Alliance for Responsible Water Policy—we’ll see that in a moment—and the Alliance is a front for industry.  We asked Mr. Newman in his deposition, this Alliance for Responsible Water Policy, does it have an address, a phone number, a fax number, any employees?  It doesn’t have an address, a phone number, a fax number.  It doesn’t have employees.  It doesn’t have a budget.  It doesn’t have a tax return.  When you call the phone number that they list, it rings in Mr. Newman’s office.  When you fax them a document, it arrives in his office.  And as you’ll see, they’re tied to industry, and they’re paid by industry.  And so, that’s why I say it’s a front for industry, and that is not disclosed to the blue-ribbon panel.


Now, here’s Dr. Langard again.  This is the transcript from his July 2001 testimony before the blue-ribbon panel, and he says he’s paid by the Alliance for Responsible Water Policy.  But we know that’s not true because you saw the bill that he sent to Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher for $11,500.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who represents not PG&E but Lockheed.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. PRAGLIN:  I hope that’s clear now.


And the Alliance gets money from companies and then writes the check to Dr. Langard and Dr. Cole and Dr. Patierno and Deborah Proctor for the work that they’re doing on this chrome VI issue.  So, Dr. Langard said, “I’m paid by the Alliance.”


And Dr. Cole, here’s his excerpt.  He says his appearance is “sponsored.”  Again, sponsored means he’s paid.  And they got the name wrong.  He says it’s by the “Alliance for Water Quality,” but it’s by the Alliance.  We have the check.  He was paid by Eric Newman.  We’ve seen the check.  And so, they say they’re paid by the Alliance.


Well, here’s the Alliance’s letterhead, and you see the nice little water droplet and the name responsible.  This is the letter that was drafted on    February 2nd, 2001.  Now, think about the timeframe.  The blue-ribbon panel was not authorized until March 27th, 2001, but six weeks before, the Alliance is active in soliciting money on this so-called pushback on chrome VI.  And if you can see the “RE:” line there, it’s about “Potential Chromium VI Alliance Partners.”  What’s an Alliance partner?  That’s somebody who pays money to join the Alliance.  And look what they say.  This is actually drafted by John Gaston, the executive director for the Alliance.  


Now, who do you think John Gaston is?  He’s a paid consultant to PG&E in our Aguayo lawsuit.  Again, this is the “Expert Witness List” filed by PG&E’s lawyers under oath:  John Gaston, Expert Witness Number 25.  He’s paid $210 an hour to work for PG&E, and he’s also the executive director of this so-called Alliance for Responsible Water Policy.  Here’s a letter that he writes to Deborah Proctor, PG&E’s other consultant.  This is dated May 22nd, 2001, and he thanks her for working with the Alliance on this issue of chrome VI pending before OEHHA.  


Now, back to this February 2nd, 2001 letter.  Again, this is from John Gaston.  The testimony was it was actually drafted by Eric Newman, but it’s signed by John Gaston.  And he says, “We can get a strong effort underway for a commitment of twenty-five hundred dollars a month”—that’s $30,000 a year—“from a number of the interested companies in support of the Alliance.  With just a modest contribution from several key players, we can build a strong alliance to implement a strong pushback on the issue to dispel the voodoo science relied upon to date and to challenge the runaway misinformation campaign that we’re now confronted with on almost a daily basis.”  Remember who funds the Alliance.  Industry funds the Alliance.  


And this is an email that we received in response to our subpoena from Eric Newman’s computer, enclosing the so-called “Chrome VI Strategic Action Plan.”  That was the enclosure with this email.  And you can see that this is an email from Mr. Newman’s clients who, so many of them, wanted to remain anonymous.  That’s why the red bars are there.  And look what the “Chrome VI Strategic Action Plan” says:  “Identified supporting members:  Honeywell, PG&E, Chrome Coalition, PPG.”  You can see one of those clients wanted to be anonymous.  “Coordinate with John Gaston, executive director.”


Now, what do they say they’re going to do with regard to the blue-ribbon panel?  “Influence selection of panelists.  Provide input and information to the panel.”  And as you’ll see in the emails that come, they did try to influence the selection of the panelists on the blue-ribbon panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure.  This is the strategic action plan proposed by Mr. Newman and his firm to affect the blue-ribbon panel that was named about that time shortly afterwards and to, in fact. . . . they suggest that one of the objectives is to select. . . . I’m trying to determine the connection between this strategic action plan as it relates to naming panelists and how that linkage could have occurred between Mr. Newman’s firm and Cal/EPA, which I am told, I was informed, simply compiled a body of scientists based on their expertise.  But they do. . . . we do have a representative from Cal/EPA who will read his statement into the record from the director, Winston Hickox, who’s unable to be here, that they reference those panelists’ names compiled based on their experience in the scientific arena as well as other sources.  So hopefully, when we have a subsequent hearing, we’ll determine whether those other sources, in fact, may have included Mr. Newman’s grassroots strategic action plan alliance group.


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think the emails that follow here may be instructive on that.  I think there’s also an additional question that needs to be answered by your committee, which is that the initial list of candidates for the blue-ribbon panel, which was quite long, that Cal/EPA developed in connection with OEHHA had a long list of very qualified scientists, and some were indicated that they may have experience with chromium litigation as a potential conflict of interest.  And that was the list that was to be used to choose blue-ribbon panel members.


Marc Schenker, the blue-ribbon panel member that’s a PG&E consultant, was not on that list.  They ordered off the menu to get Marc Schenker.  He was not on the approved list.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, I’ll ask the University, and I know Mr. Arditti will not be able to respond directly, but I believe it was a question we asked Mr. Last in my office earlier this week, how Mr. Schenker’s name managed to get on the list and on the panel, and I’m going to try to get my staff to review his notes to determine what the response was from Mr. Last.


MR. PRAGLIN:  So, we know that Eric Newman lobbied the panel through the Alliance with the help of John Gaston, but he also lobbied through Bill Vance and through Jerold Last, and these are the emails I was talking about.


This is an email from Bill Vance’s computer, and this one happens to be from Dr. Last, the chairman of the blue-ribbon panel, to Bill Vance, where he says, “I have a call from Eric Newman, a lobbyist here in Sacramento, wanting to know the meeting dates so he can tell industry’s experts when to expect to testify.  You’ll at least have a few people in the audience.”  


And then this email between Bill Vance, who’s in the lower left, and Eric Newman, on the upper right, where Eric Newman is trying to find out advance notice on when the blue-ribbon panel hearing is, and you can see this is on      July 10th, 2001.  The blue-ribbon panel hearing had not yet been announced.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure that we understand fully sort of the relevance of this.  Mr. Vance is the. . . . I’m not sure if he’s still in Cal/EPA but is the. . . . was the Cal/EPA staff responsible for independently determining who should be on a panel and providing that direction to Mr. Last, who chaired the panel.  So, Mr. Vance was invited to today’s hearing and was unable to make it, as well as a number of other witnesses that I think are real relevant for this, to determine whether or not there’s a linkage between industry and the independent Cal/EPA process putting together a balanced panel.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.  And this particular email is talking about getting notice of the hearing date which had not yet been publicized to the public.  And I should note that as far as we can tell, there was no hard-copy notice that would go out with someone’s water bill or to notify the general public of the hearing.  It was an Internet posting, as I understand it, and not posted until, I think, mid-July.  But here Eric Newman in this email is trying to get the information, and Bill Vance writes back, “The panel will meet July 25th.”  He says, “See the CRNR notice attached,” and here you see that notice, and you can see that the notice wasn’t dated until July 13th, 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, Mr. Newman had a draft of an internal document from Cal/EPA, and he used that as the basis for his email?


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.  That’s the way it appears to me.


And so, Mr. Newman writes back in this string of emails to Bill Vance, “Thank you very much,” July 10th, 2001, 4:00 in the afternoon.  And Bill Vance writes back, “Your humble civil servant at work.”  This is the Cal/EPA science advisor writing back to industry’s lobbyist at 12:30 in the morning.  You can see the time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That was about eleven days before the one day that the panel actually met in UC Davis, because they met for one day, July 21st, and this was a good eleven days prior to that.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.  And this is the email, I think, that Erin Brockovich was talking about that is so disturbing to all of us that we didn’t even know about the blue-ribbon panel.  I, myself, didn’t know until two days before.  But here’s the string notifying Bill Vance and notifying Eric Newman by Bill Vance at 12:30 in the morning.


This is another. . . . oop.  Went too fast.  This is another email—it’s a string—between Bill Vance and Jerold Last, and Mr. Vance is saying, “I don’t even leave paper trails on this.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait, wait.  Let me make sure I understand this.  To Mr. Vance from the chair of the panel, Jerry Last, and Jerry says, “I don’t even leave paper trails on this,” or Bill Vance says that?


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think it’s the latter.  We asked both of them about this, and I believe the testimony is that that’s Bill Vance’s line, “I don’t even leave paper trails on this.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I know there’s representatives from Cal/EPA here who are not going to be able to answer this question, but it is something they may want to inform Mr. Vance, if he will, in fact, appear at our next hearing, to be able to be prepared to answer.


MR. PRAGLIN:  This is an email that we received off of Eric Newman’s computer in response to our subpoena.  You can see all of the clients that don’t want to be identified there, and he writes, or the client writes, “I will try to actually speak with Eric Newman today to get all of the information firsthand.  If the panel of experts is being formed, then we need to find out how to get names in front of the decision-makers.”  So, they’re talking here about how to get names in front of the decision-makers for the blue-ribbon panel membership.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have a date on that?


MR. PRAGLIN:  I don’t.  I could probably locate one if we can put it together in a string.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d appreciate that.


MR. PRAGLIN:  We’ll see if we can locate that.


And this email from Eric Newman where he says to his clients, “UC is forming the panel under the direction of Cal/EPA.  We will be lobbying hard for balanced representation.  It’s critical that we get you, Deborah Proctor, and/or other folks on the nonalarmist side of things.”  This is March 31st—four days after the notification that there’d even be a blue-ribbon panel hearing.  Not a hearing but that there’d be a blue-ribbon panel.  


And this email from Eric Newman where he’s commenting upon Dr. Froines, who’s here—Dr. Froines—who had been a member of the blue-ribbon panel so respected in this circle, and Mr. Newman is saying, “We certainly don’t want Froines to be in charge of expert panel selections.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.  Will you go back again?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He then says, “[Blank] and I are revising strategic game plans to appropriately”. . . . “to address these new developments”?  Which new developments is he implying?  Mr. Froines being on the panel?


MR. PRAGLIN:  No, I think they’re talking about other developments in terms of what was happening at the. . . . on the blue-ribbon panel at the time.  You can see the enclosures there at the bottom of the email with the news release and the L.A. Times article.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  This is an email from Eric Newman’s computer where his clients are talking about the blue-ribbon panel members.  They’re commenting upon who should be a member, and they say, “I’ve also heard that Dennis Paustenbach has been asked to participate along with Drs. O’Flaherty (good), Froines (not so good).”  Dr. O’Flaherty was PG&E’s expert in the Anderson case.  And I should point out, although it’s not part of this PowerPoint, that Dr. O’Flaherty was contacted by Jerold Last to be a blue-ribbon panel member, and she had the good sense to write back and say, “Thank you very much, but I was PG&E’s expert witness in the Anderson case, and I can’t participate because of my conflict of interest.”  And that’s why she wasn’t a blue-ribbon panel member.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait a minute.  Does he say there that he’s going to talk with Vance about who’s on the panel?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the date of that is what?


MR. PRAGLIN:  April 16th.  And there are other emails where he talks. . . . where Eric Newman talks about talking with Bill Vance about who was going to be on the panel, and he testified about that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And again, this goes to us reviewing the whole conflict-of-interest provisions and potential legislation about these ex parte communications between the department that is supposed to be acting independently without conflicts to name who should be on these panels, and the fact that there appears to be ongoing influence by PG&E through Mr. Vance really does cause a bit of. . . . significant concern on my part.


MR. PRAGLIN:  There’s another issue on that point that your committee might investigate.  We finished the deposition of Eric Newman this past Monday, and we learned that he had a twenty-minute meeting with, I believe, it’s Winston Hickox—the Secretary of Cal/EPA?  Would that be right?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be correct.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And he had a twenty-minute meeting about chromium last year, I believe, and we asked Mr. Newman, who’s obviously very intelligent, very up on these issues, what was discussed, and he can’t recall anything about that meeting.  Now, maybe Mr. Hickox can recall, or maybe Mr. Newman’s here and he can recall, but a twenty-minute meeting with Winston Hickox on chromium would be prime time, and I would think that we’d want to know how Mr. Newman had access to him.  And what was discussed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, this is an email from Deborah Proctor—remember, she’s PG&E’s paid consultant; Dr. Paustenbach’s partner—to Eric Newman, and she’s commenting on John Froines.  And she says, “Froines is chair of the panel now?  Froines is so full of it.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They might want to teach her to use spell check here on the name.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And this email from Eric Newman where he’s talking about John Froines, and he says, “John Froines has been replaced on this conference agenda.  I had objected to his involvement in my conversation with Vance.  I don’t know if that’s what did the trick.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So again, we have an indication that there’s some ongoing direction by Mr. Newman to Bill Vance in compiling this list.  I believe we have a statement by Winston Hickox that suggests another manner in which this list of scientists was compiled.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Okay.  


This is Brent Finley.  Brent Finley is Dr. Paustenbach’s partner.  Brent Finley was a paid consultant to PG&E in the Anderson case, and this is an email that he sent to Eric Newman, the lobbyist.  And remember, this is Dr. Paustenbach at Exponent, and here’s Dr. Finley off of their website.  He’s a partner of Dr. Paustenbach’s at Exponent, two PG&E paid consultants.


I should also point out that Dr. Finley is a paid consultant to Lockheed Martin as well.


Here’s the “Expert Witness List” again by PG&E, listing Brent Finley of McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk.  That was the company that Dr. Paustenbach ran at the time.  Dr. Finley was paid $276 an hour by PG&E for his work on the toxicity of hexavalent chromium.  And in fact, Dr. Finley gave this interview to American Justice on the A&E program.  Went on television and said that the chromium in the drinking water in Hinkley did not make it a health hazard, and he acknowledges that he was a witness here in the Anderson case.


And so, Dr. Finley sends this email to Eric Newman where he says, “Dennis Paustenbach has been asked to be on the panel by Dr. Jerry Last.  Dennis and I did all the human exposure studies on behalf of PG&E.  Jerry does not believe this is a conflict.  So, it looks like we got one of our own on the panel.”


Now, these human exposure studies that Dr. Finley is referencing are the studies that Paustenbach and Finley and another scientist named Brent Kerger, who you’ll hear about later, were paid by PG&E to drink chromium VI, and then these scientists tested their own blood and their own urine to see if they got sick, and then they testified about this, and then they published papers about this that were financed by PG&E.  But in those papers, PG&E’s financing is not disclosed.  It’s not disclosed that it was for the purpose of the litigation, and none of this was disclosed by Dr. Paustenbach to the blue-ribbon panel.  Dr. Finley makes the reference here, but Dr. Paustenbach never explained it to the panel that that’s what he did for PG&E in connection with chromium.  They also sat in a Jacuzzi filled with chromium, the three of them—Paustenbach and Finley and Kerger—and then tested their blood and their urine to see if they got sick from sitting in a Jacuzzi.  And PG&E paid them to do that too.


Now, this is an email from Deborah Proctor that was redacted by PG&E.  Redacted means it was whited out.  You can see we don’t have the whole email.  We don’t know what all was said in here.  But this is to Cynthia Cwik and Ernie Getto during the time of the blue-ribbon panel’s work.  Remember, Deborah Proctor is Dr. Paustenbach’s associate.  Dr. Paustenbach was a blue-ribbon panel member at the time.  Industry wanted to know what was happening with this blue-ribbon panel, and here’s the email from Deborah Proctor to Cynthia Cwik and Ernie Getto.  Well, who are they?  This is from their website.  They’re the lawyers at Latham and Watkins that are defending PG&E in our current Aguayo case.  Ms. Cwik, a partner, on the left; Mr. Getto, a partner, on the right.  These are PG&E’s lawyers getting an email from Deborah Proctor during the time of the blue-ribbon panel on the status of the panel’s work, and Dr. Proctor says, “The OEHHA risk assessment will use the findings of the blue-ribbon panel.  The panel has six to seven members right now, and Froines is back on.”  So, obviously, she was shadowing the on again/off again of John Froines.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just go back to that, please.  


MR. PRAGLIN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think this is really important because we continue to hear there’s enough effort and time and direction by industry to affect who was on this panel, and I think it’s relevant in that it is their subjective belief that these findings from this blue-ribbon panel are going to be used for the OEHHA risk assessment.


We will hear from the UC as well as, I think, the Cal/EPA letter that Oh no, this panel process really wasn’t a deliberative body, and that’s relevant when it goes to the question of conflict of interest when that is triggered and when, in fact, they’re subject to the same code for conflict of interest that politicians are subjected to—rightfully so.  


So, I think it’s really important that the facts show that there is, in fact, some fairly important work that is done by this panel in convening and reviewing the body of scientific evidence, and it is fairly directive and determinative of the next step, which is the peer review level.  So, all efforts have gone into this point, because, indeed, I think we can argue that it is, in fact, a deliberative process and, in fact, is determinative on the ultimate Public Health Goal.


MR. PRAGLIN:  As you’ll see, Dr. Proctor goes on to divulge what’s happening in the blue-ribbon panel at this time, and she says, “The panel is expected to meet by early June and to have a report by the end of August or early September.”  Now, how did she know that?  She’s not on the blue-ribbon panel.  Her partner, Dr. Paustenbach, is, but how does she know what’s going on with the panel in May of 2001?  And then she tells PG&E’s lawyers, “With your approval, I have approached Phil Cole”—remember Phil Cole billing for the Erin Brockovich movie—“I have approached Phil Cole about having Lockheed or the Alliance for Responsible Drinking Water Standards”—again, she got the name wrong—“fund him to finish and present to the panel.  Phil is most comfortable with having PG&E fund completion of the manuscript.  Thus, at this point, I’m trying to work through Dennis to get the panel to invite Phil to present to them and through Lockheed and Eric Newman to get funding if the panel cannot fund him.”


So, she’s actually considering having the blue-ribbon panel use public funds to fund Phil Cole’s work to present to the panel to benefit industry.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe we can get some of this money to go back into the whole bankruptcy of PG&E cost recovery to Californians.


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think I’ll “no comment” on that one.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.  I’ll behave.  It’s ludicrous.


MR. PRAGLIN:  And this was the email that was sent to PG&E’s lawyers who are obviously following the progress of the blue-ribbon panel, and we’d love to know what was so important that it had to be redacted at the top.


So, that’s how industry lobbied the blue-ribbon panel.


Let’s look at this cover-up of certain facts by PG&E.  The cover-up relates to this scientific article by a scientist, Dr. Jiandong Zhang.  Dr. Zhang is deceased now.  He lived and worked in China.  He speaks no English; he writes no English; he reads no English.  He devoted his life to studying the epidemic of illness in an area of China called Jinzhou where they, unfortunately, had a chromium ore plant that had dumped 300,000 tons of chromium waste on the land, and these poor farmers that lived in the surrounding villages had their groundwater exposed for decades to very high levels of chromium VI—four hundred times the safe drinking water level in California.  Dr. Zhang was the public health official at the anti-epidemic station in China who was charged with following these people, and he devoted his life’s work to studying their adverse health effects.


PG&E secretly wrote this 1997 article by Dr. Zhang through their scientific consultants—Dr. Paustenbach’s firm—McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s important for the public to understand that this is a study ten years after the original study.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There are two studies that suggest that there may be a carcinogenic effect of ingestion of chrome VI.  One is a German study—the Borneff study?


MR. PRAGLIN:  Borneff deals with a different issue, but yes, it’s German.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the Chinese study that was. . . . the initial study was in 1987.  This 1997. . . . it’s not even a study.  It’s sort of a conclusory, very short report that concludes that Oh no, maybe that’s not the case.  It doesn’t appear to be a carcinogenic.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s right.  We’re going to lay this out in the next several slides, but this scientific article, the ’97 article, was cited by the blue-ribbon panel in Chapter 4 of the panel report.  It’s the last reference, and it’s a so-called follow-up to the 1987 study that Dr. Zhang wrote.  And this ’97 study appeared in English in an American journal called the Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, and there is no Chinese version of this.  It’s never been translated into Chinese.  It was never translated for Dr. Zhang, but it’s published in his name, and I’m going to now show you how that happened.


This is Chapter 4 of the blue-ribbon panel report.  The title is “Human Studies of the Carcinogenicity of Chrome VI.”  It’s the chapter that deals with the studies of populations that, unfortunately, had been drinking chromium and then studies their health afterward.  And this is an excerpt from the blue-ribbon panel report itself where they talk about the Zhang and Li ’87 study, saying that Zhang reported on the effects of drinking water containing chromium from wells contaminated with chromium.  And they report in the blue-ribbon panel that “Zhang reported a difference in lung cancer mortality rates that suggested there were clinically significant differences in the populations compared.”  In other words, Zhang compared the population that got the chromium with another population that didn’t and found that the population that got the chromium was sick.


And here is the English translation of the ’87 Zhang article, the one that he wrote, and this is translated by ATSDR, which is the Agency for Toxic Substances Disease Registry—it’s an arm of USEPA; they advise USEPA—translated in English back in, I believe it was, the ’80s, translating Dr. Zhang’s work.  And you can see the title here about Jinzhou, China.  Here’s Dr. Zhang’s name.  He published with a doctor named Dr. Li, 1987.  And he said, “It was revealed that the contaminated water was associated with oral ulcer, diarrhea, abdominal pain, dyspepsia, and vomiting,” and he says, “For stomach cancer, the adjusted mortality rates were above the average level.  In addition, the findings reveal that the closer to the dumpsite, the higher the mortality rate from cancer.”


So, he’s saying that chromium caused lung cancer, stomach cancer, all of these other problems that the people had, and he published this after studying these people for twenty years.  Dr. Zhang was the public health official who actually interviewed the people, took the water quality test results, and he published this because he was concerned.  


And he didn’t do any further work after 1987.  He was retired.  He was sitting in retirement when PG&E scientists tracked him down in China and contacted [tape turned – portion missing] . . . Zhang article was a problem for PG&E.  It was a problem in the Anderson case.  It’s a problem because it says chromium causes all of these adverse health problems.


And here’s an excerpt from Chapter 4 of the blue-ribbon panel report, and then they say, “Ten years later, these authors”—meaning Zhang and Li—“reported a follow-up.”  This is the blue-ribbon panel writing.  And they say, “Further analysis of mortality rates for the same cancers in the individual villages found no suggestion of a dose response; i.e., villages closest to the source did not have higher cancer mortality rates.”  So, he’s reversing his opinion ten years later after having done no further work.


And here’s the ’97 article, the follow-up, and you can see Dr. Zhang and Dr. Li—it’s a different Dr. Li this time; there’s the title—and they say, “This is a clarification and further analysis.”  They say, “Neither stomach cancer nor lung cancer indicated a positive association with chrome VI in the well water.”  In other words, they’re reversing their opinion.


And you look, there’s the ’87 article on top, ’97 article on bottom.  You can see Dr. Zhang—Jiandong Zhang—on the top and Jian Dong Zhang on the bottom.  But look:  in 1987, he’s spelling his name J-I-A-N-D-O-N-G.  In 1997, ten years later, he spells his name differently.  It’s two words.  It’s spelled differently.  And that is the fingerprint of PG&E’s scientists who wrote this article, paid by PG&E, so that they could rely upon it in litigation.  We have testimony to that effect from Dr. Paustenbach’s partner, Brent Kerger.  And the Zhang article does not cite to PG&E funding the article.  It doesn’t list the ChemRisk scientists—Kerger, Butler, Yee—who wrote this scientific report.  And when you look at the draft of the ’97 Zhang follow-up—this is it; this is one of eight drafts that we have, September of 1995—the draft is in English.  It’s written by ChemRisk.  That’s Dr. Paustenbach’s company.  In Alameda and Irvine they had two offices that were involved, and the draft went through various evolutions.  That is the fingerprint of PG&E.  We now have testimony in our case that PG&E paid these scientists to write this article.


And here’s the memo from McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk from Dr. Butler to Dr. Kerger, talking about what they’re going to do, and Dr. Butler says, “I foresee two written reports.  The first can be a foundation for a number of trial exhibits that summarize the absence of the association between cancer and groundwater exposure.”  That’s what PG&E was trying to prove in our Anderson case.  That’s what they’re trying to prove now.  So, they’re going to use this work in the case.  And then he says, “A second report will be a letter to the editor or brief communication.”  Well, look what the article ended up being titled.  There’s a draft of it; a short communication.


And here’s the budget memo from PG&E’s expert saying, “I request authorization for an additional $25,000 for services.  I believe that this amount will fund the writing”—the first draft—“of the first report pending edits from you”—that’s Dr. Kerger—“Paustenbach”—remember, he’s a blue-ribbon panel member—“and Brent Finley and others.”  And here’s the bill.  This is the memo listing how much money will be spent:  “Bill Butler:  write reports, $13,500; Tony Yee:  translation, $6,700” [sixty-seven hundred dollars].  


And here’s the drafts of the Zhang follow-up article in English by Dr. Paustenbach’s company, showing the evolution of the title.  You can see here the cross-out here, the word “evaluation.”  That’s the handwriting of Brent Kerger, Paustenbach’s partner, changing the title of the article.  And they send it back and forth from Alameda to Irvine, their two offices.  


Here’s a memo from Tony Yee sending one of the drafts.  You can see how the title changed over time.  Here’s a memo from Brent Kerger saying, “Please review and give copy to Billy B.”  That’s Bill Butler.  “Send edits to me or call me.”  Who’s Brent Kerger?  This is PG&E’s “Expert Witness List” from the Anderson case.  Brent Kerger, McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk, their paid consultant.


Now, when they sent this follow-up article, when ChemRisk sent it to the journals to get it published, first it was rejected by a journal.  When they eventually sent it to another journal, they had to send a cover page.  This is one of the cover pages.  And you can see they say, “Please address correspondence to Dr. Zhang, care of Brent Kerger, McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk, in Irvine.”  But they realized that if they sent this, there would be a trail to McLaren/Hart/ChemRisk.  And so, they revised the cover page, and they said, “Please address correspondence to Dr. Zhang, care of Tony Yee” at his home address.  That’s his home address.  That’s his home phone number.  So, now there’s no trace.  The article doesn’t say PG&E funded it.  The names of the American scientists who wrote it aren’t there.  It’s just Dr. Zhang and Dr. Li, and Tony Yee is the American contact at his home address.


And here’s the evolution of the title from the drafts that ChemRisk wrote to the eventual title in April of ’97 as it appeared in the journal and as cited to by the blue-ribbon panel that relies on it.  And here’s the bill for some of the work.  You can see they bill it to the “PG&E-Hinkley case.”  Here’s the payment.  Actually, there’s another bill.  Here’s the payment from PG&E.  There’s their logo in the upper left.  This is just one of the checks.


SENATOR SCOTT:  I’d like to ask a few questions for clarification.  


There was an original 1987 study by Zhang and Li which concluded that indeed that the drinking of chromium VI was carcinogenic.  In 1997, there appeared an article in which they appear to have changed their mind.


Now, let me. . . . let me try to trace this pretty carefully.  A certain payment was made to these two scientists?


MR. PRAGLIN:  We’ll cover that, Senator Scott, in a moment, but yes, payment was made to the scientist that wrote the article, the ChemRisk scientist, Paustenbach’s company.  Payment was made.  I think it was $25,000 or so.  But payment was also made to Dr. Zhang to make him a so-called consultant.  Payment by PG&E to Dr. Zhang.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Okay.  And so, this 1997 article, even though there are some change of name, the inference is not that the article, even though it was edited and helped and so forth, was not forged, but there was some payment involved.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Yes and no.  There was payment involved.  I think the strong inference is that the article was written solely for the purpose of PG&E to rely upon it for its own benefit in litigation, because remember, Dr. Zhang was retired.  He’s deceased now.  He was elderly.  He didn’t do any further work after 1987, and the testimony is that he was tracked down by PG&E.  We asked Dr. Paustenbach:  “Did Dr. Zhang have any plans to do a follow-up?” and he said, “No.”  And the testimony is from all of these scientists that the only reason there was ever a follow-up is because PG&E authorized these scientists that they employed to go ahead and write it because they wanted to rely upon it in litigation.  It wasn’t for a scientific purpose.  It was to rely upon litigation.


SENATOR SCOTT:  I understand that, but we are. . . . there is some evidence that Dr. Zhang received some remuneration.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Yes.  I believe he received a considerable amount of money for somebody living in China in relative poverty.  We’re not sure exactly how much money because from all we can tell, the payment was in cash, and we’ll cover that in a moment.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Okay, thank you.


MR. PRAGLIN:  This is Tony Yee.  We took his deposition in December of last year.  He was the translator that was employed by PG&E to deal with Dr. Zhang.  He was under oath, and we asked him about the Zhang ’97 article when we put it in front of him, and it appeared that he realized for the first time that these ChemRisk scientists had a typo in Dr. Zhang’s name.  So, I asked him this question:  “How is it, if Dr. Zhang reviewed the draft before publication, that he didn’t pick up a typo in his own name?”  


I should point out that they can’t come up with a draft in Chinese or a final article in Chinese.  There’s correspondence in Chinese but not the scientific article.  And remember, Dr. Zhang doesn’t read English, speak English, write English.  So, we asked Tony Yee about this typo, and here’s his sworn testimony:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Yee:  I, to be honest, I will. . . . sometimes I misspell.  I do not pick up the apparent spell error of my information as well.  I don’t. . . . I see it.  I don’t know.  I don’t know why he missed that name.  But to be honest, I don’t know why this name was misspelled.  Not only by him but also by whoever working on ____________. . . . when they typed his name why this misspelling.  I have no idea.”

MR. PRAGLIN:  So, it’s pretty obvious that he never realized they had a typo until that moment.


This is a memo from Tony Yee to Bill Butler.  He’s one of the PG&E scientists.  And Tony Yee says, “Dr. Zhang did not totally agree with us with the conclusion section.”  But they went ahead, and they published in his name anyway.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, that’s the conclusion that determined that chrome VI, when ingested, is not carcinogenic.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Exactly.  And, of course, Dr. Zhang wouldn’t agree with that.  His life’s work demonstrated the opposite.


This is the excerpt from the memo by PG&E scientists talking about how Dr. Zhang was paid, and they wrote, “The payment arrangement is that money is given to Zook Wan.”  That’s a person—a McLaren/Hart agent—in Beijing.  “Zook Wan will hold the money until Zhang needs it.”  Tony indicates that Zhang is getting this full amount and that Zook Wan “is not skimming of a percentage as Bill Butler had feared.”  And you can see that the money goes from the United States to China.  We know this because we deposed a V.P., Dr. Paustenbach’s former partner, Tony Wong, who used to carry $5,000 or more to China on his routine visits to the McLaren/Hart office in China.  That’s Dr. Paustenbach’s firm.  And the money was given Zhang.  Here’s the memo, another excerpt where they say—and there’s a typo here—but they say, “In the past, this money had been hand carried to Beijing by Tony Wong, McLaren/Hart, in Rancho Cordova.”  


And here’s an excerpt from Dr. Zhang’s website.  You see he spells his name correctly here, and he lists himself as a consultant of the McLaren/Hart International Environmental Protection Engineering Company.  And we have the subcontract between ChemRisk and Dr. Zhang, where they put him under contract because PG&E authorized them to do that so that they could write this follow-up article.


Now, this is a letter that was sent by none other than Dr. Paustenbach to George Alexeeff, the deputy director of OEHHA, on July 17th, 2000.  This is a full year before the blue-ribbon panel was even functioning, and Dr. Paustenbach had been presenting, shall we say, his position to OEHHA that chrome VI doesn’t cause cancer by ingestion, and he writes, “It’s important to recognize that the only epidemiological study of humans exposed to chrome VI via drinking water”—citing to Zhang and Li, ’97, the follow-up—“reported no excess in GI cancers even though drinking water exposures to chrome VI were well above the California MCL,” and then he cites to 20 milligrams per liter because that was one of the water quality tests in China.  That’s 400 times the safe drinking water level in California.  Twenty milligrams per liter happens to be 400 times 50 ppb.


And so, what he’s saying, what Dr. Paustenbach is saying here, is that the people in China got 400 times the safe drinking water level, and they didn’t get an excess of GI cancer, so how can it harm you?  But what Dr. Paustenbach doesn’t say in this letter is that his firm wrote the Zhang follow-up ’97 article, and he never disclosed that to the blue-ribbon panel either.  And then Paustenbach goes on to explain in this letter why industry is so concerned about this issue of what the Public Health Goal should be for chromium VI, and he writes, “Due to the renowned technical expertise of OEHHA, many organizations, expert panels, and juries throughout the United States and elsewhere weigh your guidance documents in their decision-making.”  


So, of course industry wants to make sure that the Public Health Goal doesn’t change and get lowered because juries in these chromium litigation cases like ours are going to weigh OEHHA’s decision, and if PG&E can do what they did in our case and come into the judge and say, Look, the State of California says chromium doesn’t cause cancer, then they’re going to benefit financially, and that’s why Paustenbach was at OEHHA a year before the blue-ribbon panel hearing:  lobbying this position.


Here’s the citation from the blue-ribbon panel report to Zhang and Li, 1997.  It’s the last reference.  And you would think that that’s the extent of what PG&E covered up in connection with the blue-ribbon panel, but it really doesn’t stop there because last year PG&E filed a document in court in our current Aguayo case—this is an excerpt from it—where they told our judge, “The suggestion that the committee”—that’s the blue ribbon panel—“the suggestion that the committee’s evaluation of the scientific literature pertaining to chrome VI resulted from undue influence on the part of PG&E is unfounded and absurd.  PG&E had no involvement in this process whatsoever.”  These are the words of Ernie Getto, PG&E’s lawyer in the Aguayo case, told to our judge—a court filed document.  So, judge for yourself whether PG&E had no involvement in this process whatsoever when you look at the ten people that we’ve been looking at.  They had industry panel members, industry experts, industry lobbyists, John Gaston helping to lobby through the Alliance.


And so, that’s the cover-up.  


Now, when John Froines was deposed last year, we put the blue-ribbon panel report in front of him and asked him his opinion about it:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  When you read the blue-ribbon panel report that finally came out on August 31st, 2001, what was your impression of it?


Mr. Froines:  What was. . . . oh, boy, you started this as the question for five o’clock, huh?


MR. PRAGLIN:  He wasn’t real happy with me at that point.


Mr. Froines:  I think it does not address. . . . it does certainly does not approach the issue as a public health issue.  I think there are places where the conclusions are drawn from the data that aren’t entirely correct.  I don’t think they did a thorough job of reviewing the literature, and I don’t think that they did. . . . made any attempt to address biological plausibility.  I think that this report was, unfortunately, rushed through to meet a timetable.  That is unfortunate because I think it derives from an inadequate evaluation of the literature in a thorough way and in a transparent way, let alone all the issues of money and politics and conflict of interest.  But I think that this process has not been a good one, and I think that needs to be addressed so that we have better decision-making so that the public can trust the process that goes on.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Now, this is an email from Dennis Paustenbach to his former partner, Brent Kerger, where he was forwarding the blue-ribbon panel report, and you can see he says, “Expert Panel Report is Out!”—O-U-T, exclamation point.


Now, remember what Dr. Paustenbach testified about on conflict of interest:

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  The money that you earned from PG&E and Merck you didn’t necessarily think was a conflict in your serving as a member on the blue-ribbon panel?


Dr. Paustenbach:  Of course not.


MR. PRAGLIN:  But look what he says in this email that he sends to his partner, Brent Kerger, former partner, who drank chromium with him, who sat in the Jacuzzi with him.  He says, “Buy a good bottle of wine, pull up a chair, and then read this.  Then say to yourself, ‘Yup, I really finally did something good for society.’  Unfortunately, we ended up with an unhappy client, but the ends justified the means, but the world is now a better place to live.”  Now, if Dr. Paustenbach was objective and independent and without conflict of interest on this blue-ribbon panel, why is he writing about an unhappy client regarding the blue-ribbon panel report?  Why is he talking about his clients at all unless they’re concerned about chromium?  And so, he sends this celebratory email to Dr. Kerger, and we took this email, and we put it in front of John Froines: 

[VIDEO]


Mr. Praglin:  Do you see anything to celebrate in the blue-ribbon panel report?


Mr. Froines:  No.


Mr. Praglin:  The question is:  Do you see any reason for a scientist to hold that view?


PG&E’s lawyer:  Same rejections.


MR. PRAGLIN:  That’s PG&E’s lawyer.


Mr. Froines:  I believe in the integrity of science, as I said earlier.  But this about winning.  It’s not about truth.  And when we sacrifice winning through political pressure and other machinations to win something, then, in the long run, the science suffers—the integrity of science suffers—and I think that’s really sad.  That’s. . . . it’s disappointing that we end up that way.  Unfortunately, it happens all the time.  So, it’s not as though this is a first, nor will it be a last, but this is a cynical statement.  The world isn’t a better place to live.  The world is actually a poorer place to live because of this.  It makes people cynical about trusting in the science, and I think that’s really too bad.  And so, I don’t share those views, and I think what it reflects is a process that really wasn’t successful, unfortunately, and needs to be corrected.


MR. PRAGLIN:  I don’t think I can say it any better than Dr. Froines, so that’s all I have to say; but I’m happy to answer any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me, at this point, thank you for your presentation.  Ask you to allow us a moment to probably. . . . ten minutes’ break where we can run and grab something to eat and come back and allow members the opportunity if they have questions to ask them of you.  Let me just let others know that we will then pick up the rest of the agenda to. . . . on Item 3, the “Scientific Comments on Chrome VI Toxicity.”  We do have Professor Froines here today as well as Joseph Landolph, who is from the Keck School of Medicine, as well as George Alexeeff, who is with OEHHA, and I believe he is going to read a statement from the director of Cal/EPA—or Secretary, excuse me—Winston Hickox, who could not join us today.  But we do want to allow members the opportunity to raise some questions on your presentation prior to their panel.


With that, let’s really be clear about ten minutes and no more than, members, please.  Thank you.  Let’s take a recess.

[RECESS]


SENATOR SCOTT:  We will now reconvene the committee, so if you would get to your seats, and we’ll have Mr. Praglin come back up here.  


I would simply say I don’t particularly have questions.  I thought your presentation was extremely comprehensive, and I felt it was very revelatory.  And I want to thank you for this presentation and the information that you gave us.


You know, I was a little amused by the whole issue of conflict of interest.  My understanding of the conflict of interest. . . . and perhaps I’ve thought about it in terms of, say, members of city council and how that if you happen to own a concrete company and you then awarded a. . . . if you were a member of the city council and awarded a contract to your own firm, I think everybody would immediately say, “That’s a conflict of interest.”  I can understand that term.  And I don’t understand why Mr. Paustenbach—is that the way he pronounces his name?


MR. PRAGLIN:  I think so.


SENATOR SCOTT:  If being on the payroll and receiving thousands and thousands of dollars from Pacific Gas & Electric doesn’t present a conflict of interest on this point, I don’t know exactly what does.  


Some way, somehow, we know that money taints a lot of things, and here we are dealing with the public health, and when some one judgment has to be impacted by the funds that he or she receives, this is just clear. . . . clearly a conflict of interest.


So, I compliment you for your testimony.  I certainly compliment Senator Ortiz for arranging this.  I think all of us that are here had our eyes opened in a most remarkable way.  So, thank you again.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Thank you, Senator.  Thank you for your patience.  I know it was a long presentation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I was going to try to grab a bite of lunch and defer to Senator Scott if he, in fact, wants to ask questions of Mr. Praglin’s presentation.  If not, then I will go ahead and join you up here and withhold off on my lunch and ask some questions from the podium.


UNIDENTIFIED:  I believe Dr. Froines is going to use the same machine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, okay.  Well, then we all. . . . if we want to go directly into Mr. Froines’ presentation and then hold off and ask questions of Mr. Praglin later.


MR. PRAGLIN:  Either way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s go ahead and allow Mr. Froines to come forward, and we’ll begin that panel.  And if we want to see that machine in the presentation, we’re going to have to come back over here.


Can I ask the panelists from the next item to come forward?  And that would be Dr. . . . Professor John Froines, Professor Joseph Landolph, and Dr. George Alexeeff.


We have a written statement from Mr. Joseph Landolph, and I believe, hopefully, we have enough for the sergeants to share with the public.  Members, I’ve just been handed the statement, but we should have that available for the public.


Welcome.  We’ll allow Dr. Froines to come on down and begin this part of the presentation.


I’m not sure if we gave some timeframes and commitments for the speakers, but if the quicker you can get through your presentation, the more time for questions from the members, it would be helpful.


Did you have any questions, Ms. Plotnick—Plotkin?


MS. PLOTKIN:  No.  I just wanted to say that I thought that the presentation was very informative.  At best, a blueprint for undue influence and, at worst, a lot more potentially frightening.  So, I’m interested in learning more, and I will have some questions as the . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I know Senator Kuehl was really disappointed she couldn’t make it.  So, thank you for being here to represent her.


MS. PLOTKIN:  Yes, she was.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for joining us, Dr. Froines. 


Welcome.


PROFESSOR JOHN FROINES:  Thank you.  It’s a pleasure to be here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why don’t we have you. . . . why don’t we have you get closer to the mike so you can be on the record.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Is this all right?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s much better.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Thank you for inviting me to testify.  I have to say, of course, after. . . . to be the person following Gary Praglin makes life more difficult because he covered some things that I would have covered, so I won’t try and repeat some of the things he said.  I’ll try and talk about the issues a little bit differently.


I do want to point out one thing that I’m going to come back to later, which is that I chair the State of California’s Scientific Review Panel that was established under AB 1807, and that’s a nine-person body that independently is an independent review body that reviews recommendations for chemicals being defined as toxic air contaminants.  And we’ve reviewed two hundred. . . . over two hundred chemicals in the past twenty years.  And so, when I speak with you today, I’m speaking in part as the chair of that committee, which has a long history.


I wanted to focus on, one, the preparation of the report that we’ve been talking about all morning; secondly, the issue of the Public Health Goal; and third, I want to say a few things about the carcinogenicity of chromium VI in the context of some problems that I have with the report.  And I’ll try and. . . . I will try and be relatively brief.


I just want to, at the outset, set a. . . . create a kind of a nest, and I think it’s important to understand that we deal with uncertainties all the time in this process.  And so, therefore, this entire process of risk assessment has to be fair, and there has to be a fair outcome.


Secondly, it’s really quite important that we insist on clarification of the values that influence the determination of a particular scientist participant in performing risk assessments.


Third, we must recognize that the risk assessments that were involved in the scientific evaluations we do are uncertain, and they’re subject to change when new data is obtained, but we must make public health decisions if we’re going to protect the public, even in the face of uncertainty.


And finally, we must recognize that we must evaluate information to the fullest extent possible.


So, that’s the nest in which this process, I think, has to proceed with.


And let me say that before I get into criticisms of the report, I’m not going to talk about the things that Gary Praglin talked about in terms of the conflict of interest and in terms of all the types of concerns that were raised this morning.  I want to focus on why I think this report itself has limitations and inadequacies.  And Gary showed a tape in which I think I’ve already said what I’m about to say, but I’m going to say it again.


First, I think that the timeframe for this report was much too short.  I think whatever complications occur because of outside influence, the process itself was much too short for an in-depth evaluation of the science in this field. 


Secondly, I think the report should have had the time to carry out an in-depth evaluation of all the toxicologic literature relevant to the issues.  And I felt, in fact, that the review was much too limited in its scope and depth.  There will [tape turned – portion missing] . . . of the uncertainty in the data, the report was much too definitive; and that is, it was much too conclusory.  And I’ll show you some data that will exemplify it.


I think that the report came down so sharply and so unequivocally and didn’t acknowledge the uncertainty in the data, that it drew conclusions that do not serve the public health interest.


I also think that the committee should have started out with the knowledge and the assumption at the outset that chromium VI is a carcinogen.  There is no question about that.  Chromium VI—forgetting whether you breathe it, drink it, eat it, or what have you—chromium VI is a carcinogen.  That’s where you start from; that is, that you begin with an index of suspicion.  


The second question then comes when you go to the oral route, how does the oral route affect the risk associated with chromium VI carcinogenicity?


We saw slides earlier from Mr. Praglin that some of the people were arguing that chromium VI is not even a carcinogen by inhalation.  That’s absurd, absolutely absurd.  There is not a credible scientist in the world that would agree that chromium VI is not a human carcinogen.  The evidence is absolutely overwhelming.  And of course, this is. . . . obviously you spent the morning on, on conflict-of-interest issues, so.  But I think that the report suffered at the scientific level as well as suffered at what we might call the political level.  


And that leads me to the most important thing that I want to say, and that is that this report should not be used as the basis of Cal/EPA policy on chromium VI.  That’s the bottom line.  As far as I’m concerned, this is a report.  It should be evaluated, it should be studied, it should be considered; but it is one piece of evidence.  It is not what should the decision basis. . . . should not be the decision basis for the ultimate conclusions.


Unfortunately, Cal/EPA has made this report the basis for their policy, and I think that one of the best things this committee could do would be to recommend that the blue-ribbon report no longer be considered the basis for Cal/EPA policy and that we proceed with the next stage to develop the Public Health Goal that George will talk about and is underway.


I think that there should be opportunity for extensive written/oral public comments on the PHG that’s going to be prepared.  I think we want to encourage industry input.  I think we want to encourage public interest group input.  I think we want to get as much information as we can to develop the Public Health Goal.  We don’t want to say that PG&E cannot testify on the issues.  But in the end, all that testimony, all the documents that will be prepared, all the evidence before OEHHA, should then be used by them to develop a Public Health Goal.  Following that, the Public Health Goal should be reviewed by the Scientific Review Panel because that’s what we’re in business to do.  We’re in business to review controversial issues.  We reviewed. . . . we’re about to review environmental tobacco smoke.  We have reviewed diesel exhaust.  We’ve reviewed perchloroethylene, and I could go on and on.


I think that we need to identify experts on oral intake with specific attention to intake via water to serve as consultants to the scientific panel, and they can be approved by the Secretary of California EPA.  But based on our subsequent review, we would ultimately recommend approval of the PHG that OEHHA prepares as California policy—and it would be comprehensive—with the final decision, I think, needing to be made by Secretary of Cal/EPA and the director of the Department of Health Services, so that. . . . I think that we had before is a process that makes sense that can take us past the conflicts and controversies associated with this most recent process.


Now, I want to quickly, in about five minutes, run through some science, and I’m going to just repeat some things that you’ve already seen.


One, chromium VI is known to cause lung, nasal, and sinus cavity cancers in humans.  There’s no question about that.  There is suggestive evidence of distant tumors in humans.  For example, if you work in an aerospace plant and you’re breathing spray paint with chromium in it, that spray paint. . . . that chromium is going to end up in your stomach, and the question is:  Does the chromium that reaches your stomach end up causing stomach cancer or gastrointestinal cancers?  Certainly, chromium VI causes cancer in laboratory animals.  It also causes genetic toxicity—and I won’t go through that—and the International Agency for Research on Cancer has determined that chromium VI is carcinogenic to humans.


And I want to just emphasize here something that you may not know, and that is, in the cancer potencies that our panel has reviewed, if you’ll notice, that of all the 200 chemicals that we’ve reviewed in the State of California, chromium VI is the second most potent carcinogen of all the chemicals in the state that have been reviewed at the state level.  This compound is only second to dioxin.  And as you can see, it is more potent than arsenic, butadiene, diesel exhaust, formaldehyde, trichloroethylene, methylene chloride, and I could go on.  We’re dealing with a compound that has significant cancer potency.


Now, going to the oral carcinogen issue, there is no compelling evidence that chromium VI is not carcinogenic by the oral route.  That is a completely opposite conclusion to that drawn by the report of the blue-ribbon commission.  They say that there is no evidence that chromium VI is carcinogenic by the oral route.  So, what I’m saying here is actually opposite to what the blue-ribbon report says.


And I want to come down here and mention a couple of things.  Absorption and kinetic data indicate that chromium VI can be bioavailable—and I’ll come back to that—and there is evidence—and you’ve seen some of it already—that chromium by the oral route may cause stomach cancer.


Now, let me say at this point very clearly, no good scientist would conclude that a causal relationship has been established between chromium VI and drinking water and stomach cancer.  There is no causal relationship yet established; however, there is suspicion.  That’s what I mean about uncertainty, and that’s what we have to follow up on.  The problem with this whole business with chromium is that it’s not unequivocal.  There is uncertainty, there is a lack of evidence, and there are hints, however, and that’s what we need to address rather than taking the position that the state report. . . . that the blue-ribbon report took which was to state unequivocally that there is no risk.  And that’s where I disagree.  But on the other hand, I’m not suggesting here that chromium VI by the oral route causes stomach cancer.  But I’m saying at this point we can’t rule     out. . . . rule it out, and we need to pursue it further.


Now, we’ve done a study where we looked at. . . . just look at the top line here.  We looked at 22 epidemiologic studies, and we found 15 of those studies showed an increased risk of stomach cancer.  So, we find it in 15 out of 22.  Again, I would not take that data to suggest that chromium by the oral route causes stomach cancer, but I would certainly say that the conclusions that say there is no evidence whatsoever can’t be taken on face value.  There obviously are questions that need to be addressed, and that’s the point I’m trying to raise.


Now, this is a very key issue.  This is one of the key issues in this whole business.  A lot of people argue that chromium VI, which is a carcinogen, is reduced to chromium III in body tissues and fluids, particularly in the gastrointestinal tract.  This is really very central to the arguments that say chromium VI is not a carcinogen by the oral route because they argue that chromium VI goes to chromium III in the acidic medium of the stomach; and therefore, if you turn the chromium VI to chromium III, you’re not going to have a cancer risk associated with chromium VI by the oral route.  So, that’s. . . . this is really quite central.


Now, let me suggest that there is evidence of bioavailability of chromium VI in the gut, and let me give you two quotations from a research paper.  And I want to say I think you’ll find this ironic, that this research paper that I’m quoting, one of the authors is Dennis Paustenbach, and one of the authors is Ellen O’Flaherty.  Ellen O’Flaherty, as Gary said, did not choose to be an expert, and Paustenbach you’ve been hearing about all morning.


In this paper they say, “Nonetheless, it is clear, based on total urinary chromium excretion, that a consistently greater percentage of the chromium VI than of the chromium III was absorbed.  This implies that some chromium VI escaped reduction in the stomach and entered the portal venous blood.”


Do you understand the implications of that?  Dennis Paustenbach, in his own paper, is suggesting that chromium VI is not all reduced to chromium III, and if it’s not all reduced to chromium III, then it has the potential to act as a carcinogen in the gut.  So that this was not discussed in the blue-ribbon report, and I think this is a serious omission that was not dealt with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask a question?


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where is this study. . . . or where is this statement, which study is that, and can we get that site for the committee?


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I’m sorry.  Yes, I. . . . 


UNIDENTIFIED:  Ellen O’Flaherty . . . 


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Wait, I’m coming to it.  There it is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  I think we need to get a copy of the full study if possible.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Now, the second quote that reinforces the first is “The greater absorption of chromium VI than of chromium III implies that absorption from the gastrointestinal tract is so rapid that it’s able to compete effectively with reduction in the stomach.”  In other words, the reduction that the absorption is competing effectively with reduction.  Therefore, say, that not all the chromium VI is going to chromium III.


This is a paper of which one of the authors is Dennis Paustenbach.


And let me point out that this is a study also by Dennis Paustenbach in which he measured the bioavailability of tissue chromium following ingestion, and they show that in a small number of human volunteers, at least 18 percent of the chromium VI is bioavailable.  And in fact, this range would be much wider depending upon. . . . if you have somebody who’s taking a lot of Maalox or something, you may expect to have. . . . so you have a less acidic medium, you may expect to find a much higher level of bioavailability of the chromium VI than even the 18 percent.  


But the point I’m trying to make is, it is incorrect to assume that all the chromium VI goes to chromium III and, therefore, there is no risk.  There is a risk, and what we have to do is to study it and pursue it with much greater care.  And where I disagree with the conclusions of the blue-ribbon report is they did not acknowledge that you have 18 percent chromium VI is still in the stomach of the volunteer, and they just wished. . . . they just assumed that there’s no risk.  


And so, basically, I think, in the long run, the scientific criticisms of the blue-ribbon report is that it was not sufficiently thorough, it was not in sufficient depth, it was done too quickly, and what we need is for OEHHA to do a Public Health Goal which can then be peer reviewed, and we can move on and try and address this issue in the long term.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Froines.


Let me see if there are any questions from Senator Scott or Senator Kuehl’s representative.


MS. PLOTKIN:  I had one question.  In our looking into the perchlorate issues, one of the things that came up was the airborne pathways, that if the water evaporates, then the particles go into the air.  And it was said earlier that when it’s inhaled, it’s known to be dangerous.  And I was wondering if there were similar occurrences with this particular carcinogen.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  One of the most interesting issues that has not gotten much public attention to this point is the fact that we all take showers and that, obviously, as there’s chromium in the water when you take a shower, you’re going to be breathing the chromium.  OEHHA has actually done a risk assessment a bit earlier on this issue, and so, Dr. Alexeeff is probably the best person to talk about it.  But the fact of the matter is, you do have inhalation pathway with chromium in water as well as an oral pathway.  And so, when one is going to do an ultimate risk assessment, it would be useful to see what the combined risk would be.


And one of the things that people are going to have to learn is to look at that issue of bioavailability when people are ingesting chromium VI to get a better sense of the numbers in terms of how much is reduced, how much is still able to penetrate cells in the stomach and potentially cause stomach cancer.  


As I showed, there are fifteen studies with increased risk of stomach cancer so that there are questions clearly yet to be answered.  And the inhalation route is one of the other ones.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Given the fact that chromium VI is carcinogenic, when you spoke of its potency, you were talking about its potency vis-à-vis inhalation, not . . . 


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I was talking about the inhalation numbers, yeah.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Then secondly . . . 


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I think that there’s one thing. . . . I kept focusing on carcinogenicity, but I think one of the things that the recent bioassay that’s being done by the National Toxicology Program is showing is they’re showing toxicity in other organs that’s not only cancer, and that toxicity, I think, is going to be important in developing a Public Health Goal.  So, I think it’s. . . . I don’t want to simply end up leaving the impression that it’s only cancer people are concerned about.  I think it’s toxicity of the liver, toxicity in the stomach, toxicity in the kidney, and the reproductive toxicity, and George and Joe may speak to that further.  But I think. . . . so, it is toxicity as well as carcinogenicity.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Secondly—and you made a very compelling case for that—how is a determination reached as to the level when it’s no longer dangerous?  I mean, we all know that certain chemicals in the water would be quite dangerous at a certain level and represent no danger whatsoever at another level.  Can you. . . . maybe that’s going to take too much time, but I’m just curious as a scientist how we determine it should be so many parts per billion.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Well, I think that potentially takes a long time, and I think it would be worth asking Dr. Alexeeff that question as well because they are the people who are actually going to have to do that risk assessment in the Public Health Goal; and so, how he thinks they would approach it is. . . . it’s in his ballpark, and when he figures how he’s going to approach it, then I’ll review it and tell him whether I think he was right or not.


But seriously, clearly. . . . for example, in the NTP bioassay, they are seeing liver toxicity; and so, they can look to see what levels are producing liver toxicity, and they can define the risk as a function of those levels.


The data on cancer is very difficult because we don’t yet have a real. . . . are completely certain, for example, that stomach cancer is a product of oral ingestion of carcinogenicity, so we haven’t answered the “yes or no” question yet.  And so, we have to come to. . . . feel more confident about the hazard identification question, the yes, is it a carcinogen, or no, in terms of the oral route?  And once we have reached that conclusion, then we’re going to have to look at the doses that produce the cancer and extrapolate down to the levels we find in the environment.  And the ultimate decision about what’s the safe level is, at some level, a policy decision, because this state tends to say that one excess cancer in a hundred thousand is a reasonable estimate of risk.  And so, you would identify the dose that would produce that level of cancer, and you would set the standard accordingly.


So, at some level, it is a policy decision based on what your level of protection that you want to be and the dose-response relationship that would be associated with it.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Well, all I can say, as a consumer of drinking water and someone interested in public health, I like to sin on the side of safety rather than on the other side.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Well, the thing that’s important about AB 1807, that was so good when it was written in 1983, is that the law explicitly states that we, in our review, must take a public health perspective in our review, and I think that’s important.  And I think that this blue-ribbon committee didn’t take that perspective.  They just kind of counted up the studies and then drew these rather sharp conclusions, and I think that was a mistake because I think they didn’t take enough of a public health perspective.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me ask that we try to move through the presentations as quickly as possible, although I want to encourage members to ask the questions.  It’s just. . . . I do want to take a moment to. . . . I would be remiss if I didn’t recognize Senator Ed Vincent, who’s been here throughout most of the early morning presentation.  He’s always here to help with these committee hearings, and I wanted to give him an opportunity to weigh in on the record, or he has certainly been enthralled with the presentation.


Senator Vincent, do you want to say a few words or . . . ?


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  Well, I don’t . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s get your . . . [microphone adjustment]


SENATOR VINCENT:  I’m just so enthralled by some of the comments being made.  I’m impressed by the info. . . . information we’ve received so far, but I’m depressed by the results that we’re getting in regards to what information I’ve heard.  And what comes to mind, when I noticed when it says, “This report should not be used for a Cal/EPA policy on chromium VI via the oral route of exposure.”  You know, I’m just. . . . and one gentlemen mentioned. . . . of course, he mentioned a lot of things, but he threw the word “politics” in, and it kind of disturbed me when he said that.  I’m here for the truth, not on a political situation.


And I think we’re hearing a lot of things that’s very disturbing, and it’s our job and our intention to make this clear to our constituents and to California at large, and I’m very. . . . just enthralled by the fact that Senator Ortiz is carrying the ball on this thing.  And Doctor, I’m very impressed by your bio and some of the things you’ve done.  And I want to stop talking and start listening again.


Thank you.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I really strongly believe that if you can’t trust scientists in doing their science, it destroys the entire integrity of the process.  And so, I think we should ban the word “politics” if we could.  Unfortunately, it never works out quite that way.  But the fact of the matter is, we need to get this chromium issue back into the scientific evaluation phase.


I should say, by the way—George just gave me a note—I am not a party to either side in the litigation.  I’m speaking only as an independent scientist.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you have not been paid by PG&E or by the plaintiffs.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I haven’t been paid by anybody.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  That’s important because I did ask everybody to disclose that at the front end of their presentation.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  No.  I was subpoenaed by Mr. Praglin’s offices to give a deposition, and I specifically did not want to become on one side or the other.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  Let me ask. . . . let’s try to get through the next two speakers because I think. . . . I certainly have questions of Professor Froines, but I want to hold off my questions because I really think it’s important that we get through this next presentation.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Can I do one final thing?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly, if it’s. . . . if you wrap it up fairly quickly.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  It’s very quick.  I just wanted to . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You did have the misfortune of coming behind Mr. Praglin because he synthesized all your work.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  I just wanted to say one thing here today in front of everybody about OEHHA.  I’ve worked with them for I don’t know how many years, and I’ve been on the Scientific Review Panel since 1983.  I think OEHHA represents the finest group of scientists conducting health evaluation and risk assessment in the United States, and I want to go on record making that clear.

[Scattered applause.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for saying that.  You’re absolutely correct.


Okay.  Next speaker.  I think that’s. . . . Mr. Alexeeff is supposed to be next, but I don’t know if we. . . . no, actually, Joseph Landolph is scheduled next, so welcome.  If you could also determine. . . . disclose whether or not you have been paid by industry or otherwise, that would be helpful before your presentation.


PROFESSOR JOSEPH LANDOLPH:  Yes.  And thank you.  I’m delighted to be here.  I have highest regard for the work of your committee and yourself.  I’ve testified for you before in Glendale, so this is chapter two; and the three of us were there before.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t think any of us expected this to be the outcome, however.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  No.  And I’d certainly like to thank Senator Scott who lives in my home town of Altadena and who did a fantastic job creating PCC, where my son is going to graduate this year.  So, I’m doubly pleased to be here.


Disclosures:  I’m a university professor.  I do research, teaching, and I do part-time private consultation.  I guess the matter that would be most close to here in terms of any potential conflicts were that I worked as an expert witness and private consultant for the law firm of Foley, Bezick(?) & Komerofsky in a plaintiff suit regarding chromium—two related suits which were done together—in the Burbank-Glendale area.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you for disclosing that.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  And I also work for Mr. Praglin’s firm part time on other matters.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  And over the last twelve years, I’ve done      about. . . . oh, I do part-time private consulting, about 50 percent defense, 50 percent plaintiff.  Somewhere in that approximate neighborhood.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  I also serve as a member of the Carcinogen Identification Committee which reports to OEHHA, and I was appointed first by Governor Wilson and reappointed by Governor Davis, and I’ve served on that panel for about eight years.  I’ve recently been appointed a member of the USEPA Scientific Advisory Board for two years, and I understand an appointment is pending for me for the appointment to Dr. Froines’ air board.


I’ve worked studying carcinogenicity since about 1973.  I’ve worked with chromium VI, nickel, arsenic, polycyclic hydrocarbons, and I’m an expert in studying mutagenesis and carcinogenesis.  And I think I told you everything I did so far.


My involvement in this matter was probably when I first testified for you in the Burbank-Glendale hearings.  My opinions have not changed dramatically since then.  I don’t think the science has undergone any phase changes.  We’re still awaiting the results of the NTP study, which Adam Schiff and I—Congressman Schiff—wrote a letter to the NTP asking them to do a good study so we could stop the interminable wrangling and get some actual hard data; and that study Dr. Portier has in progress, and it’s going to take a while to get.


I was asked by Dr. Alexeeff, to my left, to make recommendations for the chromate review panel.  I did so.  Dr. Alexeeff asked me to recommend charge questions for the panel.  I did so.  I found it interesting that Dr. Alexeeff told me he had nominated me for membership on the panel.  I found it fascinating that neither myself nor anybody I nominated wound up being on the panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now you really know why.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  So, we all have a piece of the puzzle, and I think now we understand why.  I had recommended that the panel consist of experts in epidemiology, carcinogenesis of chromium, chromium toxicology, risk assessment, genetic toxicology, and pharmacokinetics.  And I feel that what was missing from the panel—although, there are some very good senior scientists there, particularly Dr. Hans-Peter Ritchie(?)—I think that chromium carcinogenicity expertise and chromium toxicology expertise was deficient—substantially deficient—on the panel.  And I’ll get to that when I come to my remarks later.


Another positive, constructive suggestion I could make for you is in the future, please don’t call it a blue-ribbon panel.  When they do that around our university, everybody groans because we know it’s not going to be so good.  So, don’t emphasize it too much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Duly noted.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  I was going to suggest. . . . a suggestion in the future is perhaps you might consider using the Carcinogen Identification Committee, which I serve on, which is the state’s duly constituted experts and is a committee which Dr. Froines and I have served on in the past, and it’s dramatically underutilized.  And so, this might remove some of the politicization of the process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I will have to ask on the record, and it’s an appropriate question, and if we need to look at revising the law there, but what are the disclosures of conflict-of-interest requirements on that panel?


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Each year we’re required to fill out a financial form, which we do routinely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  A Statement of Economic Interest?


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  A Statement of Economic Interest.  And in addition, they make available to us the services of attorney Colleen Heck for the state.  If any scientist feels that they have any potential conflict of interest or appearance of conflict of interest, is all one has to do is pick up the telephone and ask her to discuss the law with them.  And I have done so.  I usually find that my ethics are stronger than what the law requires.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Always fine to overdisclose.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  And it keeps you out of trouble.  But it’s very easy.  I think it’s a simple thing to do.  It’s not difficult at all.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Very easy.  Yes, ma’am.


And I think that scientist panel member selection, of course, should be based on knowledge, expertise of the investigators.  It should also represent a diversity so there always is a distribution of opinion about any particular issue.  It’s important to try and capture the fair diversity of that distribution and opinion so you don’t have one side of the curve or the other.  And certainly, the scientists and consultants should disclose any conflict of interests.


I’m a little disturbed by the nomineeing. . . . lobbying against nominees, and this actually happened to me.  I am also, unfortunately, giving deposition as called by PG&E, and I feel that that’s harassment against me.  And the famous Ms. Proctor has sent disparaging emails about me to Mr. Newman, and I really dislike that and I . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It looks like you’re in good company with Professor Froines.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Yeah, I guess so.  But I think that you should give some thought to trying to control this process so it’s not suborn and that the will of the people is carried out if possible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we’re looking at that as well.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Yes, ma’am.


And the chromate review panel—I thought the best way I could help you is to give you a written product.  And I have previously served on two editorial boards.  I’m being solicited for a third.  I’ve reviewed, probably, over a hundred manuscripts by now.  So, yesterday and the day before I took the report and I went through it the way I would critique a scientific manuscript, and I’ve given that to you here.  My opinion is that the report is deficient; major revisions are needed.  I think that we should actually go back to the prior Public Health Goal document, which Dr. Alexeeff and his colleagues in OEHHA have written—which I thought was a very good document—and simply update it.  I would not recommend throwing out the Borneff study.  I would recommend keeping that study.  I don’t like to throw out data unless you have better data, and we have a paucity of data.  And I think that I would like to see the older calculation preserved and compared to the newer calculations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s the .02 ppb for Public Health Goal.  Correct.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Yes, ma’am.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And then 2.5 ppb for the MCL?  Was that. . . . I’m trying to look at my notes.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Two ppb for total chromium. . . . or 2.5 ppb for total chromium and .2 for chromium in hexavalent form.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which was rescinded after the blue-ribbon. . . . the “Scientific Review of Toxicological and Human Health Issues Related to the Development of the Public Health Goal for Chrome VI” report was released on August 31st of 2001.  OEHHA then rescinded the .02 ppb for public health for chrome VI.  Is that. . . . that’s unfortunate.  So, I think in the interim that is. . . . would be a standard that I think we should go back to.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  So, my recommendation would be to go back to that and just update the older PHG.  Do not throw out the Borneff data.  There is a paucity in this database, but do not throw out data until we get better data.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  I understand there are many problems with the Borneff study.  It was done thirty-five years ago, and we need a new study by modern methodology.  And that’s why Congressman Schiff and I wrote a letter—to try and get that study done for you as fast as possible.


I think there was a lack of diversity of scientific opinions leading to the chromate review report itself.  It’s slanted to one side, and I think it doesn’t represent a total distribution of opinions that should be out there.  There is an overreliance on the data of DeFlora and a down regulation or almost lack of opinion given toward the opinions of Professor Max Costa, who’s a very senior scientist, department chairman, and center head director.  


So, I felt that this report was deficient.  I gave you five pages of critique, and I’ll just tell you something very briefly to conserve your time.  I thought that, certainly, the scientists did put a lot of time into it, but the DeFlora opinions are overrepresented; Costa is underrepresented.  Chapter 5, I did find, was a good chapter—the chapter on the occurrence of chromium in drinking water—because it was written by a very sound chemist.  


But I felt in general for this panel report not acceptable in present form.  I recommend it found be deficient in a number of areas and that it be revised according to my and others’ general criticisms and four pages of specific criticisms I’ve listed below.  I feel this is crucial if this report is going to be used to have an influence on the regulation of chromium VI and on the policies of OEHHA.  So, I think that’s very important that you either have this report revised or, if that’s not going to happen, then you need to start over because the report is flawed in many areas.


I have some. . . . written all the comments for you.  I won’t take your time.  You can read that simply.  I have some final specific recommendations.  I think OEHHA should be able to choose the panel members for panels like this in the future, and please try and insulate these panels from too much lobbying influence.  Base them on the scientists’ qualifications and expertise in that specific matter at issue.  I think that didn’t happen.  This panel had some good scientists on it but was weak overall on chromium carcinogenesis and toxicology.


I also recommend and I echo Dr. Froines’ comments:  I’m a great supporter of OEHHA.  I think they do a fantastic job, and they support the health goals of the people very well.  I would recommend trying to insulate them as much as possible from political pressure to the extent that that’s possible.  For instance, I think there was pressure on them to withdraw their prior Public Health Goal.  I think that was a strategic error.  In the email I sent to Dr. Last, I recommended that “in the absence of further new data, do nothing other than update the literature in the prior Public Health Goal document.”  So, I think an error was made there and that we could go backwards and reconstitute the strength we had before.


I also recommend that you give OEHHA the authority—that they should have the authority—to utilize whatever parts of this report they feel like they want to use.  The chapter on the chemistry—environmental chemistry—of chromium, which was probably written by Professor Flegal, is written very well.  It’s written at a sophisticated chemical level, and that one chapter I’m confident with.


I’ll just make a few more comments.  I drew a distribution. . . . unfortunately, there’s not a transparency machine.  But any issue you ask about, there will be a diversity of opinion.  It’s inevitable.  When the science is very strong, then the widths of that distribution narrows, sometimes almost to zero.  So, that distribution is very narrow for the fact that chromium is an inhalation carcinogen.  Almost everyone I know of and Dr. Froines and Dr. Alexeeff agrees with that position:  it’s a settled issue.  


The opinion about the oral carcinogenicity of chromium has a wider divergence of opinion about it.  My personal feeling is I think that it is an oral carcinogen, but not everyone believes that, and that’s why you’re getting some controversy in this particular matter.


The oral carcinogenicity database for chromium is extremely sparse.  Dr. Froines already mentioned the data on stomach cancer from the epidemiological studies.  I’ve reviewed that, and I think that there are positives there.  


There is only one animal carcinogenicity study which had the hypothesis in mind to investigate whether lifetime administration of chromium could cause internal cancers, and that was the famous Borneff study.  That study’s been criticized ad infinitum.  I’m getting bored with the criticisms of the Borneff study.  It’s getting old.  I think we need to move on.  I would not throw that data out.  I think that’s an error.  Even though it’s flawed and there were small numbers of animals left—there was mouse infection of the colony—I think we need to give them credit for doing this study; and let’s see if the newer study by Portier replicates those results or shows them to be in error.  That still needs to be done.  And I think we should not make dramatic changes in the legislation until we see what that data comes up to be.


So, I would recommend waiting for the new data, but at the same time, I think even though the database is weak, I recommend a conservative approach, or a proactive approach like Senator Scott in terms of the protection of public health.  And I recommend sticking with the older PHG or the calculation that Dr. Alexeeff is going to tell you about which they made based on toxicity, and those numbers come out reasonably close.  So, I think I would recommend being conservative in terms of the protection of public health until this issue is settled and we get very precise numbers.


Like Dr. Froines, I’m concerned that chromium is a toxin.  It’s a mutagen, and it’s a carcinogen, and I don’t think we want to be putting carcinogens or mutagens in the water at this point in time.  It also breaks chromosomes.  I don’t want it in my water at all, and I think we should minimize the amount of it in the water.


The other point that Dr. Froines alluded to is a very interesting one.  I drew a picture of a cell with holes in it.  Those represent those holes, what we call an anion-transport carrier.  All cells in the body have to take up phosphate and sulfate for life.  It turns out chromate looks like sulfate and phosphate chemically and by charge—electrical charge.  So, it infiltrates through this anion-transport carrier into the cell; so therefore, all cells have these carriers, so all cells can potentially take up chromate.  Chromate is not a specific carcinogen in the sense that polycyclic hydrocarbons or aromatic amines are.  When chromium enters an area—if you inject chromium—you will get tumors at the site of injection.  So, wherever it penetrates to and gets taken up on the anion-transport carrier, it has the potential to cause cancer internally.  So, I think that leaves it as a particularly dangerous molecule which needs to be thought about carefully.


Dr. Costa reviewed this in detail in his report. . . . his review article of 1997.  This issue was not discussed in the chromate review panel report, and therefore, that report if further deficient.


Dr. Alexeeff and his colleagues in the 1997. . . . 1999 report basically used a linear dose response model.  That model is extrapolated from the Borneff data.  That database is weak.  We all accept that.  They basically calculated the number which would you give you a cancer risk of one in a million.  That number was .2 parts per billion of hexavalent chromium or 2.5 parts per billion of total chromium, as we discussed two years ago.  Then, when you go from the PHG—that’s a desirable or ideal level of risk to hold the cancer risk down to—then there is an MCL.  An MCL is not what the scientists decide.  That’s what society decides is acceptable, and that is a higher number than the PHG.  It’s nice to get the MCL as close to the PHG as possible, but that often is not possible.


Now, that’s one calculation using carcinogenesis.  The calculation Dr. Alexeeff is going to talk to you about—and he and I talked about this over the phone—they’re going to use a toxicity calculation once the Borneff study was withdrawn.  You get no toxicity up to a certain point, and then, after a certain point, you start to kill animals or cells or people.  And these calculations he will convince you, I think, are not that dramatically different.  So, those numbers will give you some convergence and give you some confidence that you can regulate chromium in the parts per billion level.


I have a small joke, and I’ll conclude my presentation, which is, without new data, OEHHA and all of us are going to be sentenced to Dante’s Inferno, whereby we would have to keep revisiting this issue every two years, and there’s no progress so we’re in a dooloop.  Some of you watched that movie Groundhog Day with Bill Murray in it, where the scenario was replayed over and over and over again.  So, this is why Congressman Schiff and I and OEHHA independently wrote letters to the National Toxicology Program to get some studies done in a hurry; to give you the data to allow a very precise calculation of the PHG to be made.


So, that’s all I have to tell you.  I’m delighted to entertain any questions you might have.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Well, thank you very much, Dr. Landolph.  I appreciate very much the comments you’ve made, and not only the comments you’ve made, but I’ve glanced through this paper that you’ve given us, and as you say, it has a very extensive and careful critique of the report, and that’s very good.  I don’t particularly have a question, but if anyone else does.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  Can I make just one quick comment that relates only to the report itself?  Joe talked at great length about the Borneff study.  If you read the report, what you find is that Jerry Last and his colleagues came up with an alternative explanation for the stomach cancers.  They then did something that you shouldn’t do in science.  They then said that was the reason for the stomach cancers.  They didn’t know any more than I know whether it was the chromium or the infection.  They didn’t know, Joe doesn’t know, you don’t know, nobody knows, but they drew the conclusion it was the alternative.  That means, to me, that there was a bias in the way they looked at the data.  They should have said, It could be one or the other, and we need to do this further.  And it’s that kind of reasoning that I describe as being too conclusory.  


So, I think it’s very careful when we review the report that I think you will see that we did not get a chance to look at the alternatives that might explain the toxicity, and I think that’s really very important as we go forward.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Yes, sir—Dr. Landolph.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Could I address that, please, as well, Senator Scott?  I agree with Dr. Froines completely.  I neglected to mention that Dr. O’Flaherty had also published a paper on the toxicokinetics of chromium in animals, and when I read through that data, it indicated that the half life of chromium systemically in animals was on the order of a day, and that would indicate that it has enough time when ingested to get across the intestinal barrier, into the circulation, and to further organs before it’s completely reduced.  So, that indicates that it can be distributed systemically to other organs and pose a carcinogenic risk.


The other point I meant to make as well in this is that if one reads the epidemiological literature, there are small numbers—small hints—of other internal cancers.  So, I think one has to be very careful with this agent.  It’s not a simple agent.  It’s a carcinogen, it’s a mutagen, and it is a systemic toxin as well.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Thank you.


As you pointed out, Dr. Froines, we in the political world are expected on occasions to have biases.  You in the scientific world are not.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  We always. . . . we have them too.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Oh, I understand.


PROFESSOR FROINES:  That’s why we have to make it very clear what our biases are because otherwise . . . 


SENATOR SCOTT:  I’m going to call on the third member of the panel and have him identify himself and present his evidence.


DR. GEORGE ALEXEEFF:  Good afternoon.  I’m George Alexeeff.  I’m deputy director for Scientific Affairs at OEHHA, and I want to thank Senator Ortiz for inviting me here.


First, I wanted to enter into the record that Cal/EPA was not able to participate in today’s hearing and that Secretary Hickox has prepared a statement, which I’ve given to Mr. Hailey—there’s a copy of it here—and has asked me to place his statement into the record for today’s hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to make sure that all of the members and Senator Kuehl’s staff have a copy of that.  If they don’t. . . . thank you, the sergeant will share that with the members.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  As I indicated, I work for OEHHA.  OEHHA is a separate department within Cal/EPA, and we are responsible for developing toxicological and medical information for other boards, departments, governmental agencies to use when trying to evaluate risks.  


I did not want to go and elaborate in terms of my background or issues I could talk about.  I thought I would just mention. . . . respond to a couple of questions that have already been brought up and answer any other questions that are here.


With regards to the shower scenario, that is something we looked at.  In fact, Dr. Papanack(?), who was with the L.A. County Health Department for a long time, asked us to look at that almost ten years ago.  And so, we looked at it several times, and there is some concern that there could be some risk in the mist.  So, that’s something that we have done in the past, and we have some information that we would plan to bring forth when we develop our PHG that would be available then for scientific discussion, review, and such.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask on that point as well?  I think it was my staff actually raised this possibility of vaporizers when persons fill vaporizers in a child’s room or anyone’s room, that the water then is vaporized and inhaled.  Will that also be included in a study, or might that possibly raise the issue of potential risk as well?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  I know we haven’t specifically thought about that issue, but that’s something that we could think about.  It depends a lot on the vapor size and the droplet size.  We are thinking mostly in terms of the shower.  But that would be something, again, we could look at to see if it is a concern or not.


Also, with regards to Senator Scott’s question on how we come up with the levels, I think as Dr. Froines mentioned, but I’ll just sum up very quickly, there’s really two ways.  If we think it causes cancer, usually we figure out what’s the one in a million risk for the water program, for some other programs, or some other risk levels.  But for the water program, we come up with a one in a million risk.  If it doesn’t cause cancer or if we can’t do that kind of a calculation, we then find the level that causes no health effects and then add a margin of safety.  That’s our standard approach.  And the margin of safety depends upon how much, you know, information we have about that level, how confident we are that it’s safe.


And it was mentioned about the confidentiality.  All of our. . . . there       was. . . . I haven’t participated in any activities with regards to hexavalent chromium except as in my office in terms of department of. . . . Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.  I haven’t done any outside consulting in this area.  In general, I only consult for USEPA, provide them advice, information that we’re developing here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, your consultant work is limited to other public agencies versus a. . . . being paid to be a consultant to . . .


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yeah.  I haven’t been paid for as a consultant, even for other public agencies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  And we do—our department—we follow the Statement of Economic Interest, and as Dr. Landolph indicated, that is something we also require of the members of the committee, such as the CIC, the cancer Identification Committee that he sits on.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And for those who are unfamiliar, the conflict. . . . the Statement of Economic Interest forms are an annual form that has to be submitted, and it’s available for public review.  Key staff in the executive branch as well as all legislative employees and legislators are subject to that kind of disclosure, so I appreciate the fact that, you know, you have to undergo that scrutiny.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  And in terms of the actual. . . . I think Dr. Landolph clarified it, but just to be clear, we only. . . . previously, in our 1990 report. . . . 1999 report, we developed a PHG for total chromium.  Now, that PHG was 2.5.  Now, as it turned out, the issue for total chromium is chromium VI.  So, we did calculate a potency for chromium VI and a level for chromium VI, but it was not an actual official PHG.  So, it didn’t have any sort of other ramifications the PHG might.


And I guess I can just stop right there and answer any questions you have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let me just share. . . . there’s a three-page letter that we’ll certainly share with the public that was. . . . is a statement of     Winston. . . . Secretary Winston Hickox for Cal/EPA, and it’s dated February 28th, which is today.  I believe it was sent to my office last night.  And it goes on and accurately covers, I think, sort of an overview of what OEHHA’s role is, and then it references this particular process in the Public Health Goal.  


There are even in this letter. . . . one of the areas that I’ll ask someone to share with Winston, and we’ll forward it, and my staff in specific inquiries for future response in the letter, but the one that stands out to me is on page 2, where the issue of how the participants in the panel were selected.  The statement by Secretary Hickox is that “There never was an expectation that the panel would be a blank slate nor could there be, considering that the panel members were chosen on the basis of their experience in a scientific field in which the number of published experts is small.  The function of the committee was advisory, specifically to present recommendations, and did not directly relate to the creation of state regulation.”  I think that’s key because I think we will also hear from the University of California that this was not a deliberative body; it was simply advisory.  I think, based on what we saw in the Praglin presentation, that, in fact, it was significantly determinative of and could ultimately be regarded as compelling and the basis for the peer review level.


The question of how these were selected is key here.  “Cal/EPA forwarded to the University of California for its consideration names of experts that primarily included those from lists assembled by OEHHA and DHS.  Cal/EPA also accepted and forwarded for consideration names from other sources.”  The “other sources” reference would be a request that I’d like my staff to forward to the Secretary to ask the Secretary to be a little more specific about what those actually provide—what those other sources were—if, in fact, it included recommendations from Mr. Newman through the emails that were suggested in the presentation.


“Cal/EPA made no specific recommendations regarding membership to the review committee other than recommending that Professor Jerry Last be designated as chair.  Most, but not all—five of the seven—of the original panel members were selected by University of California from the names submitted by Cal/EPA,” and we’ll have to verify that.


I won’t go on of the other page-and-a-half of this letter, but there are some references or some statements that we’re going to ask for further clarification from the Secretary, with all due respect.


So, with that, unless there are questions for Mr. Alexeeff?  


Senator Ed Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT: Yes, thank you.


I’ve listened intently, and it seems to me that our scientific research study and observation has indicated in no uncertain terms that chrome VI can be a health hazard to the public as it relates to drinking water.  And I keep hearing. . . . I’ve heard it on three occasions.  I heard it from a gentleman who was on the screen, and I heard it from Senator Scott, and I heard it from Dr. Landorph—I think it’s Landorph; am I saying it right?  You used the word “political” again.  You guys are scientists, professors, and Cal/EPA has to, let’s say, accept, thrive, or look at your documents and their statements.


What I’m. . . . what bothers me about this, I’ve heard the word “political pressure.”  I’ve heard we don’t want to politicize this.  What do you mean by that?  I mean, what does that really mean?  Because if you think that what we have to do is going to be swayed in any way to be politicized, that’s not what this group is about.  And I know Adam. . . . I know Congressman Schiff very well.  I served in the Assembly with him, and I think he’s on the same boat that Senator Ortiz, Senator Scott, and myself are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know that Mr. Alexeeff made a reference, but maybe. . . . if he did, he could . . . 


DR. ALEXEEFF:  No, I don’t think I did.


SENATOR VINCENT:  He didn’t, but . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Froines, I think, did.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Yes, he made a statement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or maybe Mr. Landolph.


SENATOR VINCENT:  And then I think he used the word “political pressure.”  What political pressure?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whomever made the statement might want to respond.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  Well, maybe a better word would be “manipulation.”  I think it’s pretty clear from now. . . . it’s pretty clear at this point that there was a lot of lobbying to get certain members of the panel on, to get certain members of the panel off, and I would prefer to see that selection process insulated from that to the greatest extent possible and to try and make it a more professional process based on the scientific expertise of the panelists related to the issue at hand.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I agree.  I agree with you.


PROFESSOR LANDOLPH:  And I’ve written that in a report for you.  That’s what I meant.


I also think. . . . I can’t tell you whether it was pressure or not.  Dr. Alexeeff would have to answer this.  I think it was a mistake to withdraw the prior PHG, and I think OEHHA should stand as independently as they can.  Now, we’re all adults here, and scientists certainly know that science goes a certain way and then it stops, and that’s all we can say as scientists is what the science says.


The confluence of science with the law is very complicated, and that’s not simple.  That’s more like making sausages than it is precision that you see in science.  So, that gets very complicated.  But I would say insofar as possible, let the regulations be driven by the best science possible and fair and objective science.  So, I would echo Dr. Froines’ comments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s a question from—hold on—Ms. Plotkin.


MS. PLOTKIN:  Yes, that was on my mind, too, to ask Mr. Alexeeff if, in fact, the decision to change the standard from the higher standard to the lower was actually made on the basis of this blue-ribbon report.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Okay.  Well, we asked the University—well, through Cal/EPA—asked the University of California to provide us advice on some specific areas with regards to whether or not we should consider it to be causing cancer when ingested.  Their previous assessment had indicated that we did consider it to be carcinogenic when ingested.  After that assessment, about the same time, USEPA came out and said to not consider it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who in USEPA?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Oh, it’s their report—their health assessment report.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  USEPA.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yeah.  So, that was part of it that weighed into the process.  So, we thought, well, we have often used the University to provide us advice on these kinds of very complicated and sometimes controversial issues in looking at the science, and so, we asked them for advice.  And their report. . . . we asked them specific questions to answer, and although they came back and did not answer the questions in the format we had expected, it was clearly the advice they were giving us was to not consider it a carcinogen by ingestion.  So, generally, when we receive advice, even if it’s not necessarily what certain staff or even myself might necessarily. . . . if we were giving advice, we may not give the same advice.  We generally try to follow the advice the University gives us, because that’s why we ask it.  So, under that process, we would be developing the PHG under the assumption that it does not cause cancer by . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Alexeeff, who in the University?  Was this Mr. Last?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  This is the report.  I’m saying the report.  The report provides us . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I see.  So, you, in fact, did use the report as the basis to raise . . . 


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Well, we are using. . . . we haven’t completed any process yet at this point, but that’s the current . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, but right now we do not have the .02 Public Health Goal in place as a recommendation or an actual Public Health Goal for chrome VI in the State of California.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Even though we did have for a period of time that standard.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Correct.  And that was withdrawn, I think as Mr. Praglin mentioned, based on the results of the . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Report.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  . . . chromate panel report and specifically what Dr. Froines . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you because what I want members to really understand and the public to understand is that contrary to what we have heard from. . . . or we will hear from, I suspect, those who will argue that this body was only advisory and not decision-making, it has operated to be a decision-making process, albeit prematurely and certainly without a sound scientific basis and, in fact, probably as a result of lots of political pressure and undue influence.  Not by an imbalance of participants on that panel.  This is not your. . . . these are not your comments.  This is my editorial comment at this point.


The fact that Cal/EPA has rescinded a Public Health Goal that was very protective of the public based on this panel’s one report that we will hear from, and I don’t want to speak prematurely for the University of California, but I heard in my office from their counsel, when I met with him on Monday, that they are not an. . . . that was not a deliberation and decision-making party entity; therefore, they’re not subject to conflict of interest but, rather, are simply advisory; they do not make recommendations.  In fact, by Cal/EPA, it is determined to be a recommendation that rescinded a very protective standard for the Californians’ health.


So, I don’t mean to put you on the spot, but I will. . . . everybody is saying no, it was not determinative; it was not a decision-making body; it does not make recommendations; it was purely advisory.  We have now heard from OEHHA and Cal/EPA that, indeed, it was determinative.  The science may be perfect.  With all due respect, I’m going to give the other side who presented evidence in that panel the benefit of the doubt since they’re not here to defend themselves.  But the process is so foul and so tainted that we can’t even get to a determination of whether or not this is good science.


So, I really need to stress this point here, and I rarely am one of those politicians and legislators that says let’s put the Public Health Goal in statute before we go through this process of scientists.  Because we’ve conferred so much upon the surety of science, that we ought not to tamper with it until that body of evidence is compiled, analyzed, reviewed, and presented in such a way in which OEHHA can then take and trust and determine the merits of that science.


I’m so troubled right now, rather than throw this study out, you know, I’m inclined to say let’s put it in statute.  Never mind the regulatory process, the panel, you know, the peer review process.  Let’s put the darn things in statute now, and let’s try to get these in place in the State of California at that level—.02 Public Health Goal—for chrome VI.  I’m just so upset that this has occurred.  Not. . . . you have done. . . . you are the light in all of this mess of OEHHA having, really, probably be the best checks and balances, but you are subject to the direction of Cal/EPA, and clearly, somebody in Cal/EPA’s determined—I’m not going to ask you to name who—but this, we ought to rescind the standard Public Health Goal that we were operating under.


I don’t know. . . . Senator Scott?  I’m just . . . 


SENATOR SCOTT:  Well, there’s no question that this group is advisory, but they are. . . . they posed as an unbiased science, and we who are elected officials have to depend upon that in making our determination.  So, it became determinative because we believed—or I won’t say we believed—but Cal/EPA and OEHHA believed that this was based on a total unbiased report.


Now, you know, in ancient times, sometimes scientists were brought to heel by actual physical force, where poor ol’ Galileo had to recant, and still, he said he believed that what he said originally was right.  Now we don’t have [inaudible], but we do have the money, and money is a very persuasive type of thing in the life in which we live.  But we operate under the assumption that money is not going to influence a scientific research.  When I read that a conclusion has been reached concerning something causing cancer or some other health benefit about cholesterol and all the rest, I’m operating on the basis that that was done through the procedures and the processes that have been established by the world of science in which I can, with relatively clear conscience, say that’s true, that’s right.


And so, we operated on that, but now we’re confronting with some evidence here today that shakes our belief in it. And I appreciate the testimony of the scientists here today who have told me, Well, you know, here’s the reasons I don’t think the conclusions of that report were correct.  So, we’ve got. . . . and right now we certainly. . . . whether or not we want to put into statute the business of the .02, we sure want to put something in statute about conflict of interest.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.


SENATOR SCOTT:  That much I know.


DR. FROINES:  I think that we. . . . I’m a grownup.  I’ve been involved in these kinds of things for a number of years, and we’ve all seen coalitions that end up with the kind of lowest common denominator politics in the end.  And it would be naïve to think that this was not going to be very controversial.  We have a movie called Erin Brockovich out there that names PG&E, by definition, going into this issue.  It was. . . . it had wide public interest.  Therefore, there were going to be enormous numbers of interest groups who were trying to vie for their own perspective.


What that means is that we have to work much, much harder to make sure that the scientists on a committee like this really are the best scientists we can find and the people most free of bias that we can find.  Because the context is so murky to begin with.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Well, it’s like the tobacco industry.  I mean, I want somebody who’s completely unbiased.  I don’t want scientists who are paid by the American Tobacco Institute to determine whether or not tobacco smoke causes lung cancer.  Right away I am suspicious of their conclusions.  Where do they get their money?  So, I want somebody that is totally without financial ties to the tobacco industry to conclude whether or not lung cancer is caused by tobacco smoke.  It’s just that simple.  


And we were under the illusion that for some reason this was a totally unbiased panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Obviously not.


I want my staff also, as we send a letter to Secretary Hickox, to ask him to clarify his statement in his letter dated, I think, today—“The function of the committee was advisory to present recommendations and did not directly relate to the creation of a state regulation”—and ask him to clarify that statement in light of the fact that the Public Health Goal, which had been in place at .02, for chrome VI was then rescinded after this nonregulatory, simply advisory report was issued.  


You know, Mr. Alexeeff, I appreciate that you’re in a difficult position, but I’m hoping that the Secretary can join us at our next hearing in Sacramento—voluntarily or involuntarily—to clarify because, indeed, this panel, in its report, did, in fact, operate constructively to be a new regulation by rescinding the .02 chrome VI Public Health Goal.  And that’s not how government should operate.  It’s not how pure scientists should operate in an impure environment.


I know you’ve completed your presentation.  I think that completes this panel.  Any last . . . ?  


I appreciate you all being here.  We have run well over time, and I really do want to allow the state and the industry to at least weigh in, as well as the consumer comments.  And thank you, all, for your testimony.  It’s very valuable, and I appreciate it.


Let me ask the. . . . okay, Mr. . . . and I always. . . . Joseph Lyou.  The “Consumer Comments on Chrome VI Toxicity” is the next panel:  Dr. Joseph Lyou as well as Alise Cappel.  I understand they’re going to be very brief.  Hopefully, members who have questions should feel free to do so, and they’re going to go through their presentation very briefly.


Different hairstyle since the depositions, I understand.


MS. ALISE CAPPEL:  That was a bad hair day.  That’s all gone.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ve got a bad hair day.


DR. JOSEPH LYOU:  Fortunately, my picture wasn’t up there, becuase I’ve a different hairstyle too.  


[Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.  If you could also disclose any conflicts of interest, who pays your salary and/or.


DR. LYOU:  Yes.  I have a PowerPoint presentation I guess we’re going to try to put up here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re going to have to speak more directly into that mike.


DR. LYOU:  Okay.  While the PowerPoint presentation is coming up, let me introduce myself.  My name is Joe Lyou.  I am the executive director of the California Environmental Rights Alliance, a public interest organization dedicated to the achievement of environmental health and justice in California.  I have not been paid to come here.  I will not be paid to come here.  Senator Vincent, I am a constituent of yours, so I guess, in a way, you work for me.


As explained earlier by Mr. Praglin, in July 2001, I wrote a letter to Professor Jerry Last expressing my concerns about the apparent conflicts of interest among panel members, and today I’d just like to keep my comments brief and focus on the lessons we should have learned from this experience and what I think should be done to ensure the integrity of future public health decisions.


With regard to lessons learned, when I got involved in this issue, I discovered that there are many weaknesses in our current policies and practices for protecting against bias on advisory panels.  And I should say here, too, that I serve on several advisory panels to both Cal/EPA and one for the Department of Health Services, and I am more than happy to disclose my interests.  Unfortunately, I haven’t been asked to do so in that undertakings.


I had no formal opportunity to find out who had been selected for the panel.  I had no way to find out if the members had disclosed their potential conflicts, and I had no way to gain access to that disclosure information if it existed.  I had no clear avenue for expressing my concerns and exercising what I like to do best is redress my government for grievances.


I found the California’s complex and vague conflict-of-interest laws and regulations a bit overwhelming.  I’m not an attorney, and it’s not easy to get through that stuff.  I was told that if I submitted a complaint to the Fair Political Practices Commission, it would take at least six months, if not more, to get a response, and by then the panel report would have already been completed.  I tried to intervene by asking the California Environmental Protection Agency to take care of this problem, and I tried to do this on a low-key scale—something that wouldn’t have brought us here today and forced us to spend a whole day looking at this issue—and only to be told that Secretary Hickox had no control over the selection of the panel members.


In the end, I opted for calling the chair of the panel—Professor Last—discussing my concerns and writing a letter memorializing our conversation and my findings.  I later came to learn that Ms. Cappel, who’s here with me today, had also been working on this issue, that she shared my concerns, and that she, like me, had been frustrated by the lack of opportunities to deal with the conflicts-of-interest problem.


Now, I’ve been told that my letter played a role in Dr. Paustenbach’s resignation from the panel, but based on information uncovered by Ms. Cappel, I eventually concluded this was probably the worst of all possible outcomes.  It appears that Dr. Paustenbach has succeeded in writing key sections of the final report, and my letter gave him the opportunity to step down and assure that his name wasn’t included on the list of panel members on the report.  So, even though I submitted my letter before the one-and-only public meeting of the panel, it was too late to undo the damage that had been done.


So, in short, in terms of lessons learned, I found that California lacks the political and procedural safeguards necessary to address what I saw as serious problems with the UC . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, is that policy or political safeguards?


DR. LYOU:  Policy safeguards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. LYOU:  That there should be safeguards in place both regulatory and statutory, even practices and policies from an administrative standpoint, that provide some safeguards against these type of processes.


This leads me to my list of recommendations.  I base this list on the work of other groups that are addressing this issue on the federal level.  Their points should be adopted by California, and California. . . . I found that California agencies can take a variety of steps to assure transparency, credibility, integrity, as they seek advice about policy decisions, be they scientific or otherwise.  Specifically, they can cast a wide net by using a broad definition of conflicts of interest.  It includes both direct and indirect financial interests.  They can require full disclosure from every proposed panel member of their past, present, and reasonably foreseeable financial interests.  They can create a clear, understandable, and user-friendly process that provides a way to address your concerns.  And in particular, I found that there’s a need to clarify the regulatory language about the definition of public official when it comes to the issue of who’s a consultant and who’s an advisor.  


They can assure public access to conflict-of-interest data.  This could be done through a clearinghouse and posting disclosure data on the Internet.  They can get the public involved early on in the process in the selection of members.  I think I may differ with Dr. Landolph on this.  I think that the selection process actually should be a public process.  I think. . . . I agree wholeheartedly with him when it comes to the criteria that should be used.  But I think it should be a public process.  I don’t think it should be done behind closed doors by OEHHA.  I think the members of the public should have an opportunity to comment and participate in the selection of the members.  I think that the criteria that should be used in that selection of the members are the very ones that the previous panel were talking about.


I think that we have to have a viable enforcement mechanism for our conflict-of-interest policies and statutes.  They have to give the public meaningful opportunities to file complaints and enforce conflict-of-interest violations.  And to do so, it’d maybe help to create a complaint resolution protocol in plain English or Spanish; whatever the language necessary.  Maybe even Chinese for some of the people who are participating in this process.  That they understand the prohibitions against conflict of interest, that there are clear reporting and disclosure requirements, procedural safeguards, and deadlines.


Which brings me to the last recommendation:  that we need to assure that there’s timely resolution of complaints, the agencies get to these issues quickly and efficiently, and that they don’t hang out:  they’re longer than the whole process takes for the reports to come out.


I was going to just stop at this point and point out that I think if there’s only one thing we’re going to do, having the public participation in the selection of committee members would be my highest priority.


I didn’t know what was going to be presented earlier today, and I have to say that I was thoroughly outraged.  I’m a cynical person to begin with, but my cynicism has reached new heights now that I found out more details about what happened during this process.  I was a bit naïve not knowing the lengths to which PG&E and other industry advocates had gone to influence this process.  And I think that. . . . I would just like to encourage you to do everything you can so that when we look up there and it says, “That government of the people, by the people, and for the people,” it doesn’t have to be changed to read, “That government for PG&E, by PG&E.”


One last comment before I conclude.  There is a proposal now in the Governor’s budget to cut back thirty scientists from OEHHA, thirty-six positions, thirty people who currently work there, and I think it would be a travesty if that happens.  OEHHA is one of the few entities that has the independence to do the assessments of the risk independently, and there should be a very firm firewall between the assessors of risk, and the managers of risk can make the decisions about the policies.


So, that concludes my comments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Thank you so much for that.


I know that Senator Scott has to leave at 3:30.  We do need to get the UC on to be able to at least be on the record.  They’re the only ones that we did invite.  But I do want Ms. Cappel to provide her testimony; it’s really relevant.


Mr. Lyou, thank you so much for your testimony, and there may be questions, so please don’t take off and leave too far away.


Thank you.


Welcome.


MS. CAPPEL:  Thank you.


Hello.  My name is Alise Cappel, and I’m the research director for the Center for Environmental Health, a nonprofit public health organization based in Oakland.  No one has paid me to come here and speak.  I’ve never been paid for anything related to this issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


MS. CAPPEL:  Senator Ortiz, I would like to thank you and Senator Scott and Ms. Plotkin and. . . . oh, I’m sorry.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Vincent.


MS. CAPPEL:  Senator Vincent.  I have you here too.  Thank you so much.  I’m so encouraged by your questions.


In the next five minutes, I want to talk to you about two things.  Quickly, I want to say what I believe really happened with the Chromate Committee; and secondly, I want to talk to you about how the Chromate Committee’s report will continue to pose a threat to Californians until it is officially withdrawn.


What we’ve seen today is an example of science paid for by California tax dollars, being misused to defend a corporate agenda.  I’ve been investigating this panel for the past year-and-a-half, and this is what my version of what really happened is. 


In 1999, OEHHA followed their mandate.  They determined that chrome VI in drinking water posed a legitimate threat to public health.  Top officials at Cal/EPA and the Department of Health Services didn’t like—they didn’t agree—with OEHHA’s stance on chrome VI, so Cal/EPA asked the University of California to create this blue-ribbon Chromate Committee to overturn OEHHA’s position, basically to silence OEHHA.


What disturbs me most about all this is that through the Chromate Review Committee, Cal/EPA and the University of California advanced a position extremely sympathetic to PG&E and other companies defending chrome VI litigation yet harmful to the health of Californians and the safety of our drinking water.  With help from the Chromate Committee, Cal/EPA and the University of California did the following things that undermine public health.

· They exonerated chrome VI as an oral carcinogen.

· They withdrew a health-protective Public Health Goal.

· And they reaffirmed a 25-year-old, outdated drinking water standard.


I’m encouraged that this investigation has begun; yet, after this morning’s presentation, one thing is absolutely clear:  The report the Chromate Committee produced has been hopelessly tainted and cannot be relied upon as sound science.  The University of California must immediately withdraw the report.


The Secretary of California EPA and the director of OEHHA must publicly reject it.  In the interim, while some sound science is determining a goal that will sufficiently protect our health, California EPA needs to reinstate OEHHA’s health protective Public Health Goal for chromium.


Unfortunately, the Chromate Committee’s conclusions have already tainted other California risk assessments.  OEHHA was compelled—as you all may have learned but I hope it sunk in—OEHHA was compelled to use the committee’s report as the basis for the San Fernando Basin risk assessment and their recently finished—by the way, it’s finished—Public Health Goal for chrome VI.  Because these risk assessments draw from the Chromate Committee report, they’re tainted, and they must be immediately withdrawn.  Once withdrawn, OEHHA should commence new risk assessments that are not influenced in any way by the tainted conclusions of the Chromate Committee.  We all agree on that, I believe.


The public deserves to have risk assessments conducted by scientists we can trust.  As long as the Chromate Committee’s report remains in existence, the possibility exists that physicians and other public health officials will be influenced by the biased misinformation it contains.  That is why it has to be withdrawn.


Furthermore, if we allow this report to stand, it will discourage future research into the human health effects of chrome VI, and this will be a tragedy.  In other words, scientists in Arkansas’ study in this stuff will find the report some years down the road and think it’s valid.  So, we have a responsibility to the whole world to reject it; to get it publicly out there so people will never consider it sound science.


Chrome VI in our drinking water is a serious issue, and we can’t afford to allow polluting industries a place at the decision-making table, especially when they have a financial interest.


Furthermore, to ensure that something like this doesn’t happen again, the State Legislature should mandate that science conducted on behalf of California citizens—as Joe says, with our tax dollars—is done in a balanced and transparent manner.  


Pure drinking water is a most important necessity for human health.  Drinking polluted water stresses the liver and kidneys and magnifies all other existing health problems.  This is the most important thing I’ll say to you today:  Having chrome VI in our water will make it harder for everyone to be healthy—even healthy people.  As you may know, there’s this growing body of evidence that suggests that there are all these risks, that it’s a toxic chemical and that it poses an increased risk of cancer—a myriad of cancers.


I can’t help, as a public health advocate, but think about the thousands of bottle-fed infants who have their baby formula mixed with contaminated tap water for the first four months of their lives.  Babies are our most vulnerable population.  Their developing bodies and brains receive all of their nourishment in liquid form.  We have a responsibility to provide them and their mothers with uncontaminated water.


In conclusion, as scientists argue about how much cancer risk is acceptable, the point is, the groundwater throughout the state and some drinking water is already contaminated.  At present, we don’t know the full extent of this potential water crisis, but we know enough to take precaution.  We know enough to err on the side of public health.  It’s time to act, and these are the things we have to do first:  

· The Chromate Toxicity Committee report must be repealed.

· Any risk assessments influenced by the report must be withdrawn, including the San Fernando Basin risk assessment and the recently completed Public Health Goal for chrome VI.  (It’s completed but it’s not been released.)


Until we have more accurate, more protective science, the 1999 Public Health Goal for chromium needs to be reinstated, and California needs state regulations requiring complete transparency in government science legislation that will also cover advisory committees.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Hopefully, we do have a copy of your recommendations.  I know my staff was frantically taking notes.  But this may—good—this may provide the basis for Senators Kuehl, myself, Vincent, and     Scott. . . . like we don’t have enough challenges this year, but thank you so much.


Unless there are questions from committee members . . . 


UNIDENTIFIED:  [Inaudible.]  


[Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ve already given us the answers before we’re making the case.


MS. CAPPEL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your time.  I appreciate it.


We now are going to hear from what would have been the “State and Industry Comments on Chrome VI Toxicity.”  I do want to just let the record reflect that we did, in fact, invite, as I mentioned earlier, Cal/EPA Secretary Winston Hickox.  We have a three-page letter that I read parts of it.  He, unfortunately, was unable to be here.  I have a number of questions I would have asked had he been here.  I may, in fact, read those in the record before we conclude today anyway.  But, unfortunately, he’s not here today.


We also invited Mr. Bill Vance—William Vance—who is the assistant secretary for Children’s Environmental Health.  He was Cal/EPA’s liaison to the University of California in the establishment of the blue-ribbon committee.  He was unable to attend.  He is now—I don’t know if it’s a good thing or a bad thing—he’s now the assistant secretary for Children’s Environmental Health.  There are some questions, as I’ve raised and I think others have raised—at least in the presentation—as to whether or not there was undue influence in his referring participants on the panel.  Also unable to join us today.


I will now invite the sole public representative here, Mr. Steven Arditti, who’s representing the University.  He’s the director of State Governmental Affairs, and he’s here joining us today.


Professor Lawrence Coleman was invited, who is the vice provost for research in the Office of the President.  He was unable to be here today.


And more importantly, I think, which raises the whole issue of the University of California—actually, right there, Steve, would be fine—was Professor Jerold Last at the Medical School at UC Davis, I believe, who is the chair of the panel.  Hopefully, he will be able to join us.  He did indicate he has a class that he teaches at this time at UC Davis.  All will have an opportunity to join us in Sacramento at a subsequent hearing.


So, I want to commend Mr. Arditti.  I know he’s probably going to be the one brave person that joined us today.  His official title:  assistant vice president and director, Office of State Governmental Relations, University of California.  And my constituent.


Welcome.


MR. STEVE ARDITTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the committee.  I’m very grateful for the opportunity to be here today.


I am not being paid anything special to deal with this issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But we do pay your salary.


MR. ARDITTI:  In my relationship to the University of California, frankly, I don’t think one could be paid enough to deal with this as I now learn more about it.


As you probably know, until about two weeks ago, I knew nothing of this issue.  I’m learning a lot fast here.  I had come with some prepared remarks, which I almost shared with you yesterday.  I’ve decided not to use those.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


MR. ARDITTI:  I want to say that I’ve been listening very intently to what’s been said here.  It’s very significant, and it’s something we want to review and study very carefully.


Dr. Last, who’s been referred to, and Mr. Berens in our general counsel’s office who’s been involved in litigation, had other commitments.  By the time they learned of this date, but as we discussed earlier, you’re going to have another hearing, and we’ll work with you to be sure that they are there at a time that works for everybody, perhaps others as well.  


Clearly, public faith in science is crucial for so many different reasons, and I do want to say that I think the bulk of our faculty do meet the highest standards on the planet, and I think we ought to keep that in mind as we look at some of these other particular issues.


I do think it is also true that peer review offers checks and balances if science is put forward which may be questioning.


Nevertheless, I think at least one issue here which we’ve noted, after discussing this some with you, is that the absence of a formal conflict-of-interest disclosure form that is written and then can be reviewed, certainly the absence of that does not contribute to confidence in these kinds of things, and that’s something that we’re committed to work on.  And I’m not saying that’s the only thing we’re committed to work on.  I think we want to study very carefully everything that has been said here and work with you as things go along here.  


So, I guess that’s about what I can tell you that would be of any consequence for this stage here.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Arditti.


MR. ARDITTI:  It’s been a very interesting and very informative hearing, and we want to work with you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let’s see if there are questions from any of the committee members for Mr. Arditti.


Senator Scott?


SENATOR SCOTT:  No.  I appreciate your appearing, Mr. Arditti.  You indicated that you felt like the University of California might be receptive to a better definition of conflict of interest in these situations such as this?


MR. ARDITTI:  We want to review this very carefully.  One matter that Senator Ortiz pointed out to us the other day is that while the convener of the panel in this case verbally inquired of people as to whether they had conflicts in their background, we don’t have for these, what we consider. . . . have considered to be advisory panels, a formal process wherein there is a standard kind of form that people would actually fill out and sign and so on.  And I think as we’ve thought about this just briefly, following our discussion with the chair the other day, we’re thinking that maybe if we want to—want to be sure about the credibility of these things or enhance that—we probably need to look at doing something like that.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Okay, I would simply say that, you know, even though I’m a legislator, I’m not always anxious to introduce legislation.  If I can get the various parties to police themselves, then so, if the University of California. . . . I would love to see the University of California work on this because this particular panel highlighted the value of that, and I think you’re right; it needs to be something not merely an oral kind of questioning but something in a written form.  Just as we who are legislators have to reveal all of our economic interest and so forth when we do something, it would be helpful if. . . . I think it would have been extremely helpful had the information that we learned today about some of these panelists had been known prior to their participation.


MR. ARDITTI:  Yes.  We’re committed to work on that, Senator Scott and Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Questions from other members?


Senator Kuehl’s. . . . oh, Senator Vincent?


SENATOR VINCENT:  No, I have no questions.  I think Mr. Arditti, as I. . . . replying to Senator Scott that we have a good man in that position, and I think that he’s well aware of what we would like to see happen, and I think he’ll do everything he can to make that happen.


Mr. Arditti, I want to thank you for staying here so long and hearing this story.


MR. ARDITTI:  Thank you, Senator.  It’s been very educational for me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect so.  Thank you again.


Senator Kuehl’s staff?


MS. PLOTKIN:  I just want to thank Mr. Arditti for coming today.  Appreciate your being here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it goes a long way.  Thank you for some confidence with this committee that you made the appearance, so.  Look forward to Mr. Last and probably your legal counsel joining us at the next hearing.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Madam Chair, before we. . . . I think we should all, you know, extend our congratulations to the chair for setting these kind of committees.  You should. . . . I mean, we really should.  Setting these kind of committees up is very informative to everybody.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re not done yet.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, keep going.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR VINCENT:  But everybody should applaud her for . . . 


[Applause.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  That’s why we get paid the big bucks, right?

Thank you.  Thank you.


SENATOR SCOTT:  Senator Ortiz, I can’t help but recall one of the lines of Lily Tomlin.  She said, “No matter how cynical I get, I can’t stay up.”


[Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, okay.  We do have public comment, and I don’t want to. . . . I know Senator Scott has got to leave and others, but I don’t want. . . . there are people who are here to make comments on the record from the public.  But thank you.  If you need to run, thank you for staying up so long.


Let’s allow public comment.  I don’t have the list in front of me; although, I guess, I’m supposed to.  So, if there are those members of the audience who want to come forward and provide comment, please come forward quickly so we move it very quickly.  And I don’t know which doors are locked or not, and this is no bias on our part, I assure you.  We just don’t know how to work . . .


Okay, we have. . . . our first speaker is Mr. Wasfy Shindy, Ph.D., deputy director, head of the Environmental Toxicology Bureau.  You’ll introduce yourself probably better than I was able to do so.  And I don’t know who are. . . . this certainly isn’t Mr. Melvin Blevins, but you can weigh in after Mr. Shindy.


DR. WASFY SHINDY:  Yes.  Okay, first of all, I have the doctor degree from University of California at Davis, 1969.


I’ve been working on chromium and the chromium VI in the last five years in Los Angeles County.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Last five years?


DR. SHINDY:  In the last five years.  I test thousand and thousand of samples drinking water in L.A. County.  One things I wanted add it which I never heard it today in the hearing, that there’s no difference between chromium VI and the total chromium.  No difference.  Thousand sample I test, 80 to 90 percent of the total chromium is chromium VI.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think they said that indirectly when they said the total chromium standard by OEHHA that was adopted was 2.5 parts per billion and then a .02 for chrome VI, but then they said effectively all of chromium now is the . . . [cross talking].


DR. SHINDY:  Actually, we shouldn’t really have two . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I think they effectively said that, but the only standard Public Health Goal or otherwise that they’ve arrived at before rescinding it is the. . . . is it .02 or . . .


DR. SHINDY:  Point two.  Point two parts per billion.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Point two.  And for chrome VI but total chromium essentially now because it’s the one that is most. . . . concerns us.


DR. SHINDY:  Yes.  I didn’t think. . . . I don’t want to see in the future 2.5 for total chromium, then .2 for chromium VI because that scientific data we collected shows that no difference.  It is all chromium VI.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well. . . . okay, thank you.  We’ll ask them to clarify that as we go through with the next process . . . [cross talking].


DR. SHINDY:  Okay, I’m a scientist.  I didn’t think anyone today run as many samples as I done, testing the water for chromium and the total chromium and the chromium VI.  As I said, I test sixty city in L.A. County.  Most of them are contaminated with chromium VI.  Sixty city.  The water wells of L.A. County which belongs to us is contaminated with chromium VI.  That it is a really serious problem.  Something have to be done about it as soon as possible.


I enjoyed what I heard.  I _______ what you are doing.  I addressed that panel.  The blue-ribbon committee I went to them.  I talked to them in Davis.  They weren’t interested in hearing what I’m saying.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Was there a record from that hearing?


DR. SHINDY:  I was there.  I was there.  At least Bill was there.  Some other people ______ was there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, there is a record, so hopefully, we can pull your statements from that record if we can get a copy of that record of that hearing.


DR. SHINDY:  I was there, yes.  And I felt right away that they are not interest in listening to what I’m saying.  But I’m glad to hear what you’re doing, and I hope that the whole committee. . . . I will start all over again and establish another goal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Shindy, we’re going to make sure that you’re on our next mailing list for our next hearing.  Thank you so much for being patient.


DR. SHINDY:  Thank you so much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right, we have another speaker.  Are you Mr. David Kimbrough from . . .


DR. DAVID KIMBROUGH:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  From Castaic or Castic?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Castaic, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, welcome.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Thank you very much.


I just wanted to say at the beginning I’m sorry Senator Scott left.  He is my Senator, so we’re all well-represented here.  I have no. . . . I work for the Castaic Lake Water Agency.  I’m not representing them here today.  They allowed me to take a day off and come here.  


My interest is I’ve published papers in the past on chromium VI.  My coauthor on one of my papers—Dr. Yoram Cohen—had testified at the previous hearing here, citing the paper we wrote together.  I testified at the hearing in Davis, and I testified in 1998 at the OEHHA public hearing on their draft PHG for chrome VI.  As a technical point, PHGs are not regulations, which explains Secretary Hickox’s response.  So, they’re not subject. . . . they aren’t regulations the way, say, MCLs are or something like that.


I can’t speak to any of the conflict-of-interest discussions.  I had nothing to do with any of that.  But I would like to speak to the conclusions that the report came to.  


Two of the key findings of the Chromate Toxicity Review Committee are, one, that inhaled chrome VI—at least in certain chemical forms—is clearly carcinogenic and toxigenic.  The second is, we found no basis in either epidemiological or animal data to publish in the literature concluding that oral ingested chrome VI is a carcinogen.


And I want to explain something that’ll explain. . . . it’ll sort of put the rest of my presentation in context.  Chrome VI is a variety of species; it’s not one thing.  There are a variety of forms:  there are sold forms, liquid forms, calcium chromate, potassium chromate.  And, I would like having said that and say that whatever else that went on in that process, the conclusions are entirely consistent with other public health findings.  For example, the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry which published this document—Toxicological Profile for Chromium—this is 1999.  In fact, it came out the same time as the OEHHA draft PHG.  It’s 375 pages, and they have over 800 references.  A great deal of work went into this.  They only found four specific forms of chrome VI to be carcinogenic via inhalation.  They did not find any of it via ingestion as a risk.


Similarly, the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, in their criterion document from 1975, stated that they recognized two groups of chrome VI hazardous:  the noncarcinogenic forms and carcinogenic forms.  The EPA, in their IRIS document of 1990, stated quite clearly that they did not find any evidence for oral carcinogenicity.  In the IARC monogram of 1990 which looks at chromium as well, they, like the others, they identified certain species of chrome VI as carcinogenic via inhalation but did not identify any other organ other than the lung or the nasal passages as at risk for lung cancer or for cancer at all.


And I would like to say, in contrast to these other documents, which are rather extensive, the chrome PHG is only twenty pages long, and the entire section that deals with carcinogenicity is only a few paragraphs long.  And those few paragraphs are based entirely on a single paper.  That’s the Borneff study.  They don’t cite any other papers to support the fact that it might be an ingestion carcinogen.


And if you read the actual paper by Borneff, if I can quote directly from the paper, “Oral application of chromate”—that’s chrome VI—“does not have an unequivocal carcinogenic effect.”  This is the author of the paper.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Froines actually—Professor Froines—would concur with you, if I recall, on the Bornheff study.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Now, let me just take it one step further.  The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry reviewed the same paper.  They likewise concluded with the author that there was no evidence of carcinogenicity found in this study.


So, the one study that OEHHA has based their entire carcinogenic argument on doesn’t actually have carcinogenic evidence.  So, the question is:  How did you get from this paper to the chrome PHG?  And that’s most of what the review paper goes into.  It said, Well, how did they do this? and disagreed with how they did it.  The way they did it was remove some of the mice from the study.  They removed the male mice and removed half the female mice.  And then when you get those mice together and do some other statistics, you end up with a statistically significant difference.  It’s not enough in a scientific investigation like this to say there’s a difference.  It has to be a statistically significant difference.  In fact, if I flip a coin a hundred times, if it gets heads fifty-one times, that doesn’t mean it’s a favorable outcome.  That’s just within random variation.  And what they’re studying with this paper is the amount of additional cancer experience with his mice would be within what you’d expect in normal variation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you are supporting the findings of the panel report.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Not necessarily supporting the process or any of those issues, but I think. . . . let me say this.  I would say that their findings are consistent with what other agencies. . . . similar agencies have published.  


I’ll leave it at that.  Their position is not wildly out of place with other similar agencies.  The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, and other similar agencies have come to similar conclusions.  So, irrespective of the process issues, the conclusions appear to be consistent with what other reasonable scientists have come to.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask. . . . I appreciate that because I think what we said in the beginning of the hearing—certainly my opening comments—was that we were not going to question whether the science was correct or incorrect.  My obligation, my responsibility, was to raise the issue of the process.  


So, if you take the science out and leave that to scientists, ultimately would you. . . . do you believe that there may have been less than a perfect public process from composition of the panel to influence of the panel, to persons who maybe had good science but ought to have had a responsibility to probably disclose who was paying them to be . . . 


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Let me say I know none of the panel members.  I’ve never met any of them before that first day in July.  I never met any of the other presenters before.  So, I’m really coming from a complete position of nonknowledge in terms of who among those people were. . . . had any relation to PG&E.  I have no relation to PG&E.  I’ve never been a consultant for anybody on anything.  I should say I previously worked for California EPA in the Hazardous Materials Laboratory in Southern California and prior to that California Department of Health Services.  And I have a master’s degree from the UCLA School of Public Health, and I’m currently a doctoral candidate there.  I’m getting my Ph.D. in environmental chemistry.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Though you feel fairly strongly about refuting at least OEHHA’s earlier Public Health Goal on chrome VI as being flawed based on the Borneff study.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  When the USEPA reviewed the Borneff study, they considered it too flawed to even be used.  And I’m quoting that from them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, then it’s your opinion that the Cal/EPA’s reliance on it, or OEHHA’s reliance on it prior to rescinding it—the Public Health Goal—was unsound scientifically?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  I wouldn’t quite go that far.  I disagreed with it though.  It’s as safe and sound as. . . . you know, a very strong statement, but I disagreed with it.  And I think. . . . I disagreed with the fact that they didn’t look at the fact that a lot of the literature suggests that only certain forms of chrome VI are carcinogenic, not all of them, and that if you’re looking at water, you’re not going to be seeing the forms that are carcinogenic.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Had you had any contact at all with Mr. Bill Vance at Cal/EPA as either around the time that the blue-ribbon. . . . or the panel was convening or completing its work?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Yes, I had received an email.  I wasn’t originally going to testify, and he asked if I would . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He sought your appearance?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  No, not exactly.  He asked if I was going to.  I said I was not going to for the reason that they were only allotting three to five minutes, and I said, “I’m not going to fly all the way to Sacramento from Southern California.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And how had he tracked you down?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  I had published—I don’t have anything published—I had written a white paper reviewing the Borneff study and its use in the PHG which I’d given to several individuals, and apparently, he had gotten a copy of that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Several individuals like maybe Eric Newman or . . .


DR. KIMBROUGH:  No, no one like that.  I had sent a copy to Bruce Mackler of the USEPA, Region 9 and, I believe, Dave Spath of Department of Health Services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who else in. . . . maybe on the panel?  Anyone on the panel that you . . . 


DR. KIMBROUGH:  No one on the panel until . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Paustenbach?  Have you ever . . .


DR. KIMBROUGH:  I’ve never met the man.  I wouldn’t know him if I ever bumped into him. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Deborah Proctor maybe?


DR. KIMBROUGH:  I met Deborah Proctor at the hearing, after I’d given my presentation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I just find it interesting that Mr. Vance tracked you down and asked you to please appear and present your opinion before. . . . if you had never met him or any other people.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Never met him before.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you have no idea how he found you.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Apparently, someone had. . . . apparently, this white paper had gotten around because I’d gotten. . . . actually, other people said, “Oh, I saw your paper.”  I hadn’t given it to them.  Apparently, at some point, he had gotten hold of it and asked if I could give a presentation on it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  And I thank you for your time before the committee.


DR. KIMBROUGH:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Are there other. . . . Mr. Blevins?  Is Mr. Blevins here?  I know he was here earlier patiently waiting his time.  I guess he’s not here to be on the record at least.


Well, are there others from the public who want to comment?


If not, let me just take a couple of moments to wrap up my final comments.  I was hoping to sort of read into the record what I would have asked a number of people to respond to had they been here.  But in the absence of that, I can certainly wait for PG&E and others to come to the State Capitol as well as, hopefully, the Secretary of Cal/EPA, Winston Hickox.


Let me just thank everybody for participating.  Senator Kuehl is well represented by you, Ms. Plotkin.  Hopefully, Sheila and I will be able to work together on this, as well as Senators Vincent and Scott who are always really committed to work through and sit through a lot of these very difficult hearings.  But I thank you for representing her.  


Thank you, Senator Vincent, for being here, as always.  I’m going to ask whether you have any final comments or questions.  Either of you?  Any comments, Ms. Plotkin, on behalf of Senator Kuehl?


MS. PLOTKIN:  Well, just a couple of things.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You might want to speak into the mike.


MS. PLOTKIN:  Just a couple of things.  One is, if the findings of the blue-ribbon panel were actually used by OEHHA as a reason to lower the standards for chrome VI in the water supply, and it appears that the report was tainted and, in fact, to some degree controlled by the industry interests, then maybe the safer standards, we might look at whether or not they can be reinstated possibly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It looks like there seems to be some preliminary desire to do that, and it looks like I’m willing . . .


MS. PLOTKIN:  Yes, it’s looking like that.


And then the other thing that I know that Senator Kuehl would want me to say is to agree with a couple of the comments that were made today, particularly by Dr. Froines and Dr. Lyou, regarding greater public participation in the process, both in the selection and approval maybe of the panel, and just having access to information.  I know I’ve learned a lot today, and I’m sure a lot of the others here have as well, and I’m sure more people might be interested if they were. . . . you know, lots of notices and other public hearing opportunities.  


So, thank you for allowing me to be here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It sounds like we’re going to be able to have more opportunity than we probably ever wanted or thought we would have to undergo, but I think there’s a willingness to do that, and I thank you for being on the same track, I think, that we are.


Let me just quickly again thank the public for sitting through this—the elected officials.  We did extend an invitation to Assemblymember Frommer.  I believe he was unable to attend.  Also, Congressman Schiff, who I served with briefly in the Senate and was my seatmate until he went to Congress, is interested in this and joined me early on in Burbank when we did the first hearing.  And I know that he is, you know, committed to helping in whatever way he can.


Let me just share with you what I think my feelings are about what our next actions should be.  I want to make sure that this record of this hearing is widely disseminated to government, to legal, and to scientific policymakers so they do not rely on the report by the Chromate Toxicity Review Committee as any kind of an unbiased study.  I think we’ve heard a willingness by my colleagues to join me in either rescinding or pulling, canceling, and, you know, calling into question and asking the University of California to rescind that report; certainly to pursue whether or not we can impose the higher standards of Public Health Goal for chrome VI that were in place at OEHHA prior to this study being released.


Let me also say that under the legislation that I did, the State Department of Health Services has until January ’04 to set the actual standards in place, and I’m going to share my concerns regarding this information with the director as well as the direction from the other. . . . of my colleagues on what we may do to either delay that time or, in the absence of that deadline, going through a fuller public review process with better science and better public input and review, to ask for that tougher Public Health Goal that had been in place, either through statute or administrative process or commitment from the department.


I’m also going to refer a lot of this information from this hearing to the Attorney General and the FPPC (the Fair Political Practices Commission) to determine what conflict-of-interest or disclosure requirements under the current law may have been broken.  If it is the determination of the AG or the FPPC that no laws were broken, we still have an obligation, I believe, to develop legislation to expand this state’s conflict-of-interest and disclosure laws to, in fact, cover these entities.  


This blue-ribbon commission’s decision, despite correspondence from the Secretary of Cal/EPA, despite meetings and representation by the University of California, is, in fact, more than an advisory committee.  It has operated, either correctly or incorrectly, to be a decision-making body that, indeed, made recommendations that were acted on by OEHHA in rescinding the tougher Public Health Goal.  Whether by design or default, it has operated as such.  And for that reason, we absolutely need to move forward on those kinds of conflict-of-interest provisions and disclosures that all of us who are held to protect the public’s health and the trust of the state are subject to, as we should be.  


Politicians, appointed persons to boards and commissions on a local level are all subject to Statement of Economic Interest disclosures as well as other reporting requirements.  I don’t think that these panels should be held to a lesser standard.  In fact, they hold in their decision-making or advisory or recommendation process a greater and more precious obligation than many of us do directly, and that is to protect the public health of Californians.  And for that reason, I’m going to aggressively pursue legislation, and I suspect I will have some help from my colleagues, to assure that they fully understand and appreciate that obligation and responsibility.


I thank you all for joining me today.  I thank my staff and the staff of the Senate for being here.  They worked really hard, and we can’t forget that they put a lot of time and effort into this, and I’m really honored to be a part of this.  And thank you, all, for joining us today.


This committee is adjourned.
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